INFLUENCE OF PROPORTION OF NANAS (*Ananas comosus* L.) BONGGOL AND SKIN AND CARBAGE CONCENTRATION ON *FRUIT LEATHER* CHARACTERISTICS

DESCRIPTION



By:

ANGGRAENI PUTRI PRATIWI NPM. 1633010064

FOOD TECHNOLOGY STUDY PROGRAM FACULTY OF ENGINEERING NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT UNIVERSITY "VETERAN" EAST JAVA SURABAYA 2023

INFLUENCE OF PROPORTION OF NANAS (*Ananas comosus* L.) BONGGOL AND SKIN AND CARBAGE CONCENTRATION ON *FRUIT LEATHER* CHARACTERISTICS

Anggraeni Putri Pratiwi NPM. 1633010064

ABSTRACT

Pineapple hulls and peels are waste products that have not been optimally utilized, but still have a fairly high nutritional content including carbohydrates and proteins, and contain phenolic compounds and flavonoids. Efforts to utilize the waste of bongol and pineapple peel is by processing it into fruit leather to increase its economic value. The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of the proportion of pineapple stump: pineapple peel and the addition of carrageenan on product quality, and determine the best treatment to produce fruit leather with good characteristics and favored by panelists. This study used a Completely Randomized Design (CRD) two-factor factorial pattern with two replicates. Factor I was the proportion of fruit leather : pineapple peel (w/b) 60:40, 50:50, and 40:60. Factor II is carrageenan concentration of 0.6%, 0.8%, and 1%. Based on the results of the study, the best treatment was the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel 50:50 (b/b) with 1% carrageenan concentration which produced fruit leather with 16.26% moisture content, 24.83% reduction sugar content, 15.37 mg/100g vitamin C content, 27.37% antioxidant activity, 3.08% crude fiber content, 3.02 N tensile strength, 20.21% total dietary fiber content, and organoleptic characteristics including color 3.52 (neutral), taste 3.44 (neutral), aroma 3.24 (neutral), and texture 3.36 (neutral).

Keywords: Fruit leather, stump, peel, pineapple, carrageenan.

FOREWORD

Praise be to Allah SWT who has given His grace and guidance to the author so that the author can complete the thesis with the title "The Effect of Proportion of Pineapple (*Ananas comosus* L.) Bark and Skin and Carrageenan Concentration on *Fruit Leather* Characteristics". This thesis was prepared to fulfill the requirements for graduation at the undergraduate level (S1) of the Food Technology study program, Faculty of Industrial Technology, National Development University "Veteran" East Java.

The author received a lot of help, guidance, direction, support, and prayers from various parties during the implementation and preparation of this thesis. Therefore, with all humility, we express our gratitude, among others, to:

- Dr. Dra. Jariyah, MP as the Dean of the Faculty of Engineering UPN "Veteran" East Java.
- 2. Dr. Rosida, S.TP, MP. as the Head of the Food Technology Study Program of UPN "Veteran" East Java, and the first supervisor.
- 3. Ulya Sarofa, M.M. as the Second Supervisor who has provided guidance in writing this thesis.
- 4. Prof. Dr. Ir. Sri Winarti, MP. as the First Examiner who has helped me in improving the writing of this thesis.
- 5. Dr. Yushinta Aristina Sanjaya, S.Pi., MP. as the Second Examiner who has helped me in improving the writing of this thesis.
- 6. My parents and family who have always given me encouragement, advice, enthusiasm and patience.
- 7. Food Technology Class of 2016, especially parallel B, for all the encouragement, suggestions and help.
- 8. Friends in Oral Assemblies who have struggled to this point.
- 9. All parties that the author cannot mention one by one.

The author realizes that in the process of making this thesis it is not perfect because there are still many shortcomings in it, therefore suggestions and criticism are very much expected by the author to support the perfection of this thesis. Hopefully the writing of this research report can add insight into thinking to be more advanced in the future and can be useful for those concerned.

Surabaya, June 17,

2023

Author

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT i

FOREWORD	ii		
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv		
TABLE OF TABLES	v		
LIST OF IMAGES	vi		
LIST OF ATTACHMENTS	vii		
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1		
A. Background	1		
B. Research Objectives	3		
C. Research Benefits	3		
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	4		
A. Pineapple (Ananas comosus L.)	4		
B. Fruit Leather	6		
C. Carrageenan	11		
D. Mechanism of Carrageenan Gel Formation	12		
E. Sugar	13		
F. Drying on <i>Fruit Leather</i> Quality	14		
G. Effect of Heating on <i>Fruit Leather</i> Quality	15		
H. Decision Analysis	16		
I. Foundation Theory	16		
J. Hypothesis	19		
CHAPTER III RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	20		
A. Place and Time of Research	20		
B. Research Materials	20		
C. Research Tools	20		
D. Research Methodology	20		
1. Changeable Variables	21		
2. Fixed Variables	22		
E. Research Parameters	22		
F. Research Procedures	23		
1. Pineapple Hull - Peel Porridge Making	23		
2. Fruit Leather Making	23		
CHAPTER IV RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27		
A. Raw Material Analysis Results	27		
B. Fruit Leather Product Analysis Results	29		
1. Water Content	29		
2. Reduced Sugar Content	31		
3. Vitamin C Content	33		
4. Antioxidant Activity	34		
5. Crude Fiber Content	36		
6. Tensile Strength	38		
Organoleptic Test (Hedonic/Liking Test)	40		
8. Decision Analysis	45		
9. Best Treatment Analysis	47		
CHAPTER V CLOSING	48		
A. Conclusion	48		
B. Advice	48		
OVERVIEW	49		
APPENDIX	57		
LIST OF TABLES			

Table 1. Nutrient Composition of Fresh Pineapple Fruit Per 100 grams BDD 4

Table 2: P	Proximate Analysis Results of Pineapple Peel and Stump Waste 6		
Table 3.	Quality Requirements for Candied Fruit 7		
Table 4. Composition of Kappaphycus alvarezii 13			
Table 5.	Physical Properties of Carrageenan 13		
Table 6: R	Results of Raw Material Analysis of Pineapple Pith - Peel 27		
Table 7: A	verage Value of Moisture Content of <i>Fruit Leather</i> with		
-	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration 29)	
Table 8.	Average Value of Reduced Sugar Content of Fruit Leather with		
-	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration 31		
Table 9. A	verage Value of Vitamin C Content of Fruit Leather with		
-	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration 33	3	
Table 10:	Average Value of Antioxidant Activity of <i>Fruit Leather</i> with		
	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration 35	5	
Average V	alue of Coarse Fiber Content of <i>Fruit Leather</i> with	-	
	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentratio	n	
Table 12:	Average Tensile Strength of <i>Fruit Leather</i> with		
	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentratio	n	
	39		
Table 13.	Average Value of Color Preference of <i>Fruit Leather</i> with		
	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentratio	n	
	41	•••	
Table 14.	Average Value of <i>Fruit Leather</i> Flavor Favorability with		
	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentratio	n	
	42	••	
Table 15:	Average Score of <i>Fruit Leather</i> Aroma Favorability with		
	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentratio	n	
Table 16 [.]	Average Value of <i>Fruit Leather</i> Texture Favorability with		
· abie · ei	Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentratio	n	
Table 17	Results of Analysis of Effectiveness Value (NF) Characteristics		
	Physicochemistry and Organoleptic of <i>Fruit Leather</i> 46		
Table 18	Analysis Result of Rest Treatment of Fruit Leather 40		
	, stary de resourcer boot froatment of Franceballion		

FIGURE LIST

Flowchart of Sirsak - Carrot Fruit Leather Manufacturing
Figure 2. Structure of Kappa Carrageenan
Figure 3. Mechanism of Carrageenan Gel Formation
Flowchart of the Preparation of Pineapple Pith - Peel Porridge
Flowchart of Pineapple <i>Fruit Leather</i> Making - Pineapple Peels
Figure 6. Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Pomedranate:
Pineannle Peel
and Carrageenan Concentration on the Moisture Content of Fruit
Leather
Figure 7: Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple
Peel
and Carrageenan Concentration on Reduced Sugar Content
Fruit Leather
Figure 8. Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel
and Carrageenan Concentration on Vitamin C Content
Fruit Leather34
Figure 9. Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple
Peel
and Carrageenan Concentration on Antioxidant Activity
Fruit Leather36
Figure 10: Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Pomegranate:
Pineapple Peel
and Carrageenan Concentration on Crude Fiber Content
Fruit Leather
Figure 11: Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Pomegranate:
Pineapple Peel
and Carrageenan Concentration on Tensile Strength of Fruit Leather

LIST OF ATTACHMENTS

Appendix 1. Analysis Procedure	57
Organoleptic Testing Questionnaire	63
Raw material analysis results	64
Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Water Content	65
Observation Data for Variance Analysis of Reduced Sugar Content	67
Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Vitamin C Content	69
Observation Data for Variance Analysis of Antioxidant Activity	71
Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Crude Fiber Content	73
Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Tensile Strength	75
Color Organoleptic Test Data	77
Appendix 11. Calculation of Color Organoleptic Test with Friedman Test	78
Organoleptic Test Data for Taste	79
Appendix 13. Calculation of Organoleptic Taste Test with Friedman Test	80
Aroma Organoleptic Test Data	81
Calculation of Aroma Organoleptic Test with Friedman Test	82
Organoleptic Test Data for Texture	83
Appendix 17. Calculation of Organoleptic Texture Test with Friedman Test	84
Appendix 18. Research Image	85

CHAPTER I

A. Background

Pineapple production in Indonesia in 2021 reached a fairly high figure of 2.89 million tons, while in East Java it reached 198,000 tons (BPS, 2021) with by-products in the form of pineapple hulls and peels in a considerable amount, namely 48.6% of the weight (Marlina, et al, 2018).

Pineapple hulls and skins are waste products that have not been optimally utilized, but they have a fairly high nutritional content including 10.54% carbohydrates and 0.69% protein (Roni, 2013), and contain phenolic compounds (Lobo and Yahia, 2016). The chemical composition of pineapple stump includes moisture content of 83.68%, ash content of 2.13%, pH 4.32, reducing sugar content of 14.38%, pectin content of 1.82% (Efendi, R., et al, 2018), crude fiber at 1.39% (Sengar, et al, 2021), vitamin C at 68.56 mg/100g, and DPPH capture activity of 64.86% (Vrianty, et al, 2019).

Pineapple peel contains 81.72% water, 17.53% carbohydrate, 4.41% protein, 13.65% reducing sugar, 24.4 mg/100g vitamin C, and 59.05% antioxidant inhibition activity (Putri *et. al*, 2018). Pineapple peel also contains crude fiber of 2.41% (Sengar, et al, 2021) and pectin which is quite high at \pm 8% (Ezugwu, et al, 2014). Based on the fiber and pectin content, pineapple hump and peel are eligible to be processed into *fruit leather* products. This can open up opportunities for the utilization of pineapple hulls and peels into processed products to increase the economic value of pineapple waste.

Fruit leather is a type of food derived from fruit pulp that has been crushed and dried. Drying can be done using heating which has a temperature of 60 - 70°C. *Fruit leather* has a thin sheet shape like skin, a slightly clayey and compact texture, and has good plasticity so that it can be rolled (not easily broken). According to Febrianto (2011), the requirements of fruits that can be used for making *fruit leather* are fruits that have sufficient maturity, low water content, contain high fiber, and have a strong flavor. The criteria in making *fruit leather are* determined by acid content, sugar content, and high fiber or pectin content (Nurkaya, et al., 2020). The problem that often arises in the manufacture of *fruit leather* is its poor plasticity because the proportion of fruit used can affect the properties and characteristics of

the *fruit leather* produced. The natural pectin content contained in the material is less than optimal in the process of gel formation in *fruit leather*, so it requires the addition of gelling agents that are expected to improve the plasticity of the *fruit leather*, one of which is carrageenan.

Carrageenan is one of the seaweed-derived hydrocolloids and is able to bind water molecules (Sidi, 2014). Carrageenan has the ability to form gels, stabilizers, emulsifiers, suspenders, and dispersers (Anggadireja, et al., 2007). Carrageenan has three types, namely kappa, iota and lambda, among the three types, kappa carrageenan has good gel formation. The concentration of carrageenan will affect the texture of *fruit leather*. Carrageenan can function as a binder, colloid protector, syneresis inhibitor, and *flocculating agent*. Carrageenan will form a *reversible* gel, meaning it can form a gel when cooling and return to liquid when heated (Distantina *et. al*, 2009).

Research conducted by Pulungan, et al (2020) on the manufacture of *fruit leather* from *subgrade* pineapple fruit with the addition of red dragon fruit peel with the proportion of ingredients of 80%: 20%, and the addition of 0.6% carrageenan is the best treatment because it has a moisture content of 9.5%, total acid 1.46%, total sugar 36.25%, and antioxidant activity 73.93%, as well as an overall organoleptic assessment most favored by panelists which includes color, taste, texture, and aroma. Sidi, et al (2014) conducted research on the effect of carrageenan addition on the physicochemical and sensory characteristics of pineapple and carrot *fruit leather* with the proportion of ingredients of 50%: 50%, the best treatment is the addition of 0.6% carrageenan because it has a moisture content of 12.49%, ash content of 2.73%, water activity (Aw) 0.46%, tensile strength of 1.91 N, and food fiber content of 4.15%, as well as overall sensory characteristics most preferred by panelists which include color, taste, aroma, and texture.

Based on the description above, this study was conducted to make *fruit leather* using pineapple stump and skin with the effect of carrageenan concentration on physicochemical and organoleptic characteristics that are good and liked by panelists, and produce *fruit leather* that has more nutritional value so that it is suitable for consumption.

B. Research Objectives

- 1. To determine the effect of the proportion of pineapple *stump* : pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on the physicochemical and organoleptic characteristics of pineapple stump peel *fruit leather*.
- 2. Determining the best treatment between the proportion of pomace: pineapple peel, and the concentration of carrageenan to produce *fruit leather* with good characteristics and favored by panelists.

C. Research Benefits

- 1. Increase utilization, extend shelf-life and diversity of pineapple stump and peel.
- 2. Produce diversified *fruit leather* products with good quality and favorable.

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Pineapple (Ananas comosus L.)

Pineapple (*Ananas comosus* L.) is one type of fruit that is widely favored by the public. The outside of the pineapple has a skin consisting of a kind of black spot that protrudes outward. The top of the pineapple is a stiff leaf that sometimes resembles a crown (Indriati, 2016). According to data from the Indonesian Central Bureau of Statistics, pineapple production is increasing every year, pineapple production in 2021 reached 2.89 million tons. This number grew 17.95% compared to 2020 of 2.45 million tons (BPS, 2021).

Pineapple fruit can be consumed directly or processed into other consumer products such as pineapple chips, pineapple jam, and so on. The main nutritional content in pineapple fruit is carbohydrates and water, in addition there are fiber, sugar, organic acids, vitamins (ascorbic acid, niacin, and thiamine) and minerals (especially magnesium, manganese, and copper) and contains a large number of antioxidant compounds known to have beneficial effects on human health (Garcia *et. al*, 2021). The nutritional content in every 100 grams of fresh pineapple fruit can be seen in Table 1.

Nutritional Content	Quantity/100 g
Water (g)	88.9
Energy (kcal)	40
Protein (g)	0,6
Fat (g)	0,3
Carbohydrate (g)	9,9
Fiber (g)	0,6
Ash (g)	0,3
Calcium (mg)	22
B-Carotene (mcg)	17
Vitamin C (mg)	22
BDD (%)	53

Table 1. Nutrient Cor	position of Fresh	Pineapple Fruit F	Per 100 grams BDD
-----------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------

Source: Indonesia Food Composition Table (2017)

a. Pineapple Stump

The part of the pineapple fruit that is widely used is the flesh, from the consumption and processing of pineapple, it also produces by-products in the form of skin and pineapple hump in a considerable amount, namely 48.6% (Marlina, et al., 2018). Pineapple stump is the middle part of the pineapple fruit, which has an elongated shape along the pineapple fruit, a slightly hard texture, and tastes slightly sweet (Effendi, et al., 2012).

According to Effendi, et al (2012), the remaining ingredients of pineapple fruit still contain juice containing sugar and acid. The chemical content of pineapple stump includes 83.68% moisture content; 2.13% ash content; pH 4.32; 14.38% reduction sugar content; 1.82% pectin content (Efendi, R., et al, 2018).

Pineapple bark also contains crude fiber at 1.39% (Sengar, et al., 2021), vitamin C at 68.56 mg/100g, and DPPH capture activity at 64.86% (Vrianty, et al., 2019). Pineapple stump also contains organic acids, such as citric acid, malic acid and oxalic acid (Fitriana, et al., 2017).

b. Pineapple Peel

Pineapple peel is an organic waste that contains many vitamins, nutrients and others. Pineapple peels contain active substances including anthocyanins, vitamin C and flavonoids (Anggraeni and Rahmawati, 2014). In addition, there is the enzyme *bromelin* and *tannin* (Caesarita, 2011). Bromelin is an enzyme that can be isolated from pineapple juice or stem. Bromelin has the ability to break down protein molecular structures into simpler forms (amino acids). Pineapple fruit that is still green or immature contains less bromelin than fresh pineapple fruit that is ripe (Gusriani, 2013).

Bromelin enzyme can be obtained from the stalk, skin, leaves, fruit, and stem of the pineapple plant, as well as the stump or center of the pineapple fruit in different amounts. The highest content of bromelain enzyme is found in the flesh of the ripe fruit. Bromelin is also useful for asthma patients and can also help people who suffer from allergies (Gusriani, 2013).

Pineapple peel contains 81.72% water, 17.53% carbohydrate, 4.41% protein, and 13.65% reducing sugar (Kusuma, et al, 2019), 24.4 mg/100g vitamin C, and 59.05% antioxidant inhibition activity (Putri *et. al,* 2018), and pH 6.3 (Gunawan, 2018). Pineapple peel also contains crude fiber of 2.41%

(Sengar, et al, 2021) and pectin which is quite high at \pm 8% (Ezugwu, et al, 2014).

|--|

Composition	Average wetness (%)
Water	86,70
Protein	0,69
Fat	0,02
Ash	0,48
Wet fiber	1,66
Carbohydrates	10,54

Source: Sidharta (1989) in Roni (2013)

B. Fruit Leather

Fruit leather is one type of food that can be used as an alternative processed food made from fruits, vegetables and flowers. After the fruit is made in the form of crushed fruits (*puree*) then the fruit is dried in the oven. This product is in the form of thin sheets like leather with a plastic texture, sweet taste but still has the characteristics of the fruit used. *Fruit leather is* a thin sheet that has a distinctive consistency and flavor (Puspasari, et al, 2005).

According to Raab and Oehler (2000), *fruit leather* is one of the food products such as dried sweets with a moisture content of 10-20%, which is in the form of thin sheets with a thickness of 2-3 mm, has a distinctive taste according to the fruits used, high in fiber (Marzelly *et. al*, 2017). Meanwhile, according to Yenrina *et. al*, (2019), the expected criteria of *fruit leather* are having an attractive color, a slightly clayey and compact texture, and having good plasticity so that it can be rolled or not easily broken or torn.

Kwartiningsih and Mulyati (2005) stated that *fruit leather* has several advantages, namely a long shelf life, easy to produce and the nutritional content does not change much. There is no quality requirement from the National Standardization Agency (BSN) for *fruit leather*. *Therefore*, the quality requirements used refer to the quality requirements of candied dried fruit which can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3. Quality Requirements for Candied Fr
--

Description	Unit	Requirements
Circumstances		
Smell	-	Typical
Taste	-	Typical

Color	-	Normal
Foreign Objects	-	Not allowed
Moisture Content (w/b)	%	Max. 44
Sugar (Calculated as Sucrose) (w/b)	%	Min. 22
Food Additives		
 Artificial Sweetener 	-	Not allowed
- Preservatives	-	As per SNI 01-0222-1995
 Additional Dyes 	-	As per SNI 01-0222-1995
Metal Contaminants		
- Timbale (Pb)	mg/kg	Max. 1,0
- Copper (Cu)	mg/kg	Max. 10,0
- Zinc (Zn)	mg/kg	Max. 40.0
- Mercury (Hg)	mg/kg	Max. 0.05
- Arsenic (As)	mg/kg	Max. 0.5
Microbial Contamination		
 Total Plate Number 	Colonies/g	Max. 1,0 x 10,2
- Coliform	APM/g	Max. 20
- E Coli	APM/g	<3
- Mold	Colonies/g	Max. 5

Source: SNI 01-4443-1998

Making *fruit leather is* done by taking the pulp to separate the fruit and seeds. After that, crushing is carried out until it becomes *puree* and the heating process is carried out. The fruit *puree* that has been heated is then allowed to stand for a while and then poured into a baking sheet that has been coated with plastic and dried at a temperature of 60-70 ° C for \pm 24 hours until a dry product is obtained. After drying, then cutting and rolling on the dried product, the finished *fruit leather* product is obtained. The following is a description of the process of making *Fruit Leather* (Ayu, 2016):

1. Raw Material Preparation

Soursop fruits and carrots were sorted and washed under running water until they were clean from any remaining dirt. Then peeling is done on the soursop fruit to extract the flesh.

2. Blanching

Blanching is done on carrots for 2 minutes.

3. Destruction

Crushing is done using a blender with water added in a ratio of 1: 1 until the material is completely smooth like porridge. Then coarse filtering is carried out on the soursop pulp until a smooth fruit pulp is obtained, for carrots, filtering is

carried out until the juice is obtained. Crushing is done using a blender at medium speed.

4. Weighing

Weighed the soursop pulp and carrot juice in the proportion of 50:50 (%), 20% sugar, and 0.6% citric acid.

5. Mixing

After the ingredients were weighed, they were mixed with carrageenan at 0.6%.

6. Warm up

The slurry that has been added with sugar, carrageenan and citric acid is then heated on a stove at a temperature of $\pm 70^{\circ}$ C for 3 minutes and stirred slowly until homogeneous.

7. Printing

After the heating process, the dough is poured on a 40 x 40 cm baking sheet that has been coated with LDPE type plastic and a thickness of \pm 2-3 mm for the molding process.

8. Drying

The dough that has been poured into the pan is dried using an oven at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for ± 24 hours.

9. Cutting

After the material is dry, it is then cut with a size of 5×5 cm.

10. Rolling

Then the products that have been cut are rolled into *fruit leather*.

The flowchart for making soursop-carrot *fruit leather* can be seen in Figure 1.



C. Carrageenan

Hydrocolloids can function as adhesives, water binders, emulsifiers, gelling Flowchart of Sirsak - Carrot *Fruit Leather* Making (Ayu, 2016)

to reduce the free water content in food ingredients. One type of hydrocolloid that is often used is carrageenan. Carrageenan is a hydrocolloid compound consisting

of esters of sodium, potassium sulfate 3,6



magnesium, and with galactose and

potassium,

anhydrogalactocipolymer (Basuki, et al., 2014). Carrageenan is used because in addition to being hydrophilic, it is more stable in immobilizing water at lower concentrations and stronger in forming gels (Sidi, 2014). Carrageenan is obtained from seaweed that is widely cultivated in Indonesia, namely *Eucheuma denticulatum (Eucheuma spinosium)* and *Kappaphycus alvarezii* (Eucheuma *cottoni*) (Wisnu and Rachmati, 2011). According to Fauziah et al (2015), kappa type carrageenan is the best among iota and lambda because kappa type is a carrageenan that can form a gel if it meets with potassium ions, the gel formed is elastic and flexible and the kappa carrageenan gel is stable against acid or does not hydrolyze.

Figure 2. Kappa structure of carrageenan (Rifansyah, 2016)

Kappa carrageenan is a fraction that is able to form a gel in water and is *reversible*, which melts when heated and gels again when cooled. Kappa carrageenan will form the strongest gel with elastic gel properties and is stable in acidic solutions (Imeson, 2010). *Kappaphycus alvarezii* has a fairly complete nutritional content. The composition of *Kappaphycus alvarezii* can be seen in Table 4.

Carrageenan has properties including solubility, viscosity, gel formation and pH stability. The solubility of carrageenan in water is influenced by several factors including the type of carrageenan, temperature, pH, the presence of counter ions and other solutes. Carrageenan in solution has maximum stability at pH 9 and will hydrolyze at pH below 3.5. At pH 6 or above, carrageenan solutions can generally maintain the conditions of the carrageenan production process. Acid hydrolysis will occur if carrageenan is in solution form, hydrolysis will increase with increasing temperature (Fahmitasari, 2004).

A decrease in pH causes hydrolysis of the glycosidic bond which results in loss of viscosity. The viscosity of a hydrocolloid is influenced by several factors, namely carrageenan concentration, temperature, type of carrageenan, molecular weight and the presence of other molecules. If the concentration of carrageenan increases, the viscosity will increase (Fahmitasari, 2004).

Research by Nurainy and Koesoemawardani (2006), showed that the results of soursop *fruit leather* with the addition of seaweed at a concentration of 0.8% was the best treatment and produced soursop *fruit leather* with good physical and chemical characteristics and good acceptance on organoleptic characteristics. Based on research by Fitantri (2014), the function of adding kappa carrageenan in making *fruit leather* can improve plasticity because it can form a gel and enrich the nutritional content of the *fruit leather* produced including minerals and fiber.

D. Mechanism of Carrageenan Gel Formation

Gel formation is a phenomenon of combining or crosslinking polymer chains to form a continuous three-dimensional mesh. Furthermore, this mesh captures or immobilizes water in it and forms a strong and rigid structure. Gel formation is influenced by several factors including: type and type of carrageenan, consistency, presence of ions and solvents that inhibit hydrocolloid formation. Heating process with a temperature higher than the gel formation temperature will cause the carrageenan polymer in the solution to become *random coil*. When the temperature is lowered, the polymers will form a *double helix* structure and if the temperature decrease is continued these polymers will be strongly crosslinked and with increasing helical shape, aggregates will be formed which are responsible for the formation of a strong *gel*. If continued, it is possible that the aggregate formation process will continue and the gel will contract while releasing water. This last process is called syneresis (Fardiaz, 1989 in Nuraini, 2001).



Figure 3. Mechanism of Carrageenan Gel Formation (Thomas, 1992)

In principle, gel formation occurs due to the formation of a three-dimensional mesh or network by primary molecules that stretch over the entire volume of the gel formed by trapping a certain amount of water in it. Cross-linking occurs in polymers consisting of a sufficient number of long-chain molecules, a continuous three-dimensional building will be formed so that a rigid and tough structure is formed that is resistant to certain forces and pressures (Astuti et al., 2015).

The process of carrageenan gel formation begins with the change of carrageenan polymer into a *random coil* shape. This change is due to the heating process with a temperature higher than the carrageenan gel formation temperature. When the temperature is lowered, the carrageenan polymer will form a *double helix* structure and produce *junction* points and polymer chains (Glicksman, 1979 in Pritanova, 2013).

The differences in the amount, type and position of sulfate and the presence of ions will affect the gel formation process. Monovalent ions namely K⁺, NH⁴⁺, Rb⁺ and Cs⁺ help the gel formation. Kappa carrageenan forms a hard and elastic gel. Of all the carrageenans, kappa carrageenan gives the most stable strong gel. lota carrageenan forms a strong and stable gel when Ca²⁺ ions are present. Na⁺ ions are reported to inhibit the formation of kappa and lamda type gels (Angka and Suhartono, 2000). Carrageenan is soluble in hot water and will form a gel at 45°C and 65°C, stable to neutral and acidic pH, and strong in gel formation (Mawarni, et al, 2018).

Nutritional Content	Quantity/100 g
Carbohydrate (g)	57,3
Protein (g)	4,5
Fat (g)	0,89
Ash (g)	28,9
Calcium (mg)	1068
Phosphorus (mg)	124
Iron (mg)	0,93
Magnesium (mg)	152
Niacin (mg)	2,2

Table 4. Composition of Kappaphycus alvarezi i

Source: Abirami and Kowsalya (2011)

Table 5. Physical Properties of Carrageenan

Characteristics	Карра	lota
Sulfate ester	25-30 %	28-35 %

3,6-anhydro-galad	ctose	28-35 %	-
	Hot water	Soluble at >70 C°	Soluble at >70 C°
	Cold water	Soluble Na⁺	Soluble Na⁺
	Hot milk	Dissolve	Dissolve
	Cold milk +		
Solubility	Tetrasodium	Viecoue	Viecous
Solubility	Pyrophosphate	V13C0U3	v 13COU3
	(TSPP)		
	Sugar solution	Soluble (hot)	Difficult to dissolve
	Salt solution	Insoluble	Insoluble
	Organic solvents	Insoluble	Insoluble
	Effect of cation	Forms a strong gel	Forms a strong gel
Gal		with K ⁺	with Ca ²⁺
Oel	Gel type	Strong and brittle	Elastic and cohesive
		with syneresis	without syneresis
Stability	Neutral and alkaline	Stable	Stable
	Ph		
	Acidic (pH 3.5)	Hydrolyzed	Hampered with heat
Synergy with othe	er hydrocolloids	Yes	No
Thawing stability		Unstable	Stable
Courses Imagen ()	010)		

Source: Imeson (2010).

E. Sugar

Sugar is involved in the preservation and manufacture of a wide variety of food products such as jam, *jelly, fruit leather* and others. The ability of sugar as a preservative is because it can increase the concentration and pressure in food products, so that there can be movement of water from low to high concentrations (*osmosis*) through the semi permeable membrane of microbes so as to kill microbes. The use of sugar is also due to its high solubility, ability to reduce moisture and bind water so as to inhibit the growth of microorganisms in foodstuffs (Buckle, 1987).

During the cooking of the sucrose solution in the presence of acid in the manufacture of *fruit leather, a* hydrolysis process will occur which produces reducing sugars (glucose and fructose). Sucrose as a preservative is widely used in *fruit leather,* jam, *jelly*, fruit juice, sweets, sweetened condensed milk and so on. The addition of sugar to foodstuffs in high concentrations (at least 40%) makes some of the free water unavailable for the growth of microorganisms and the water activity (*Aw*) of foodstuffs is reduced. The use of sugar at concentrations reaching 65% will cause the cells of microorganisms contained in foodstuffs to dehydrate or plasmolysis. The mechanism of sugar as a preservative is to produce high osmosis pressure so that the microorganism cell fluid is scoured out and as a result inhibits

the cytoplasm from decreasing so that plasmolysis occurs which causes cell death (Winarno, 2004).

The use of sugar is not only as a preservative and sweetness but also functions as a flavor giver, color giver, and surface gloss. Sugar concentration affects the moisture content and texture of food products. Sugar has hygroscopic properties or absorbs water so that bacterial cells will dehydrate and eventually die. Sugar heated with protein will react to form dark-colored lumps resembling caramel in color, smell and taste (Ernie and Lestari, 1992). Caramelization reaction is a browning process that occurs when sugar is heated continuously until the temperature exceeds its melting point. The melting point of sucrose is 160° C (Winarno, 2004). In making *fruit leather,* caramelization does not occur because the temperature used is not too high, only 70° C.

F. Drying on the Quality of Fruit Leather

Drying as a method to remove or eliminate water from a material with the aim of keeping the material from microbiological, enzymatic and chemical damage. According to Desrosier (1988), the water content is reduced to a limit so that microbes can no longer grow.

Desrosier (1988) also states that fruits are preserved more by drying than by other food preservation methods. Drying is one of the most widely used food preservation methods. Dehydration is a way to produce dried fruits in a new form and with better quality.

In the manufacture of *fruit leather*, an artificial dryer is used, namely a dryer using a dryer (*Cabinet dryer*). The drying process carried out in the manufacture of *fruit leather* aims to reduce the water content and is expected to preserve quality characteristics such as flavor and nutritional value. With artificial drying, the temperature, air velocity, humidity and drying time can be adjusted according to the commodity being dried. Improper control of these factors can cause *case hardening*, which is a condition where the surface of the material is very dry while the inside is still wet, this occurs when the evaporation of water on the surface of the material is much faster than the diffusion of water and the inside out (Susanto and Saneto, 1994).

According to Susanto and Saneto (1994), some of the advantages of using drying technology on fruits and vegetables include the material becomes more

durable, the volume of the material becomes smaller so as to facilitate and save space for transportation and packing, the weight of the material also becomes reduced so as to facilitate the transportation process, thus it is expected that production costs become cheaper. While the disadvantages include the occurrence of physical changes such as shrinkage, discoloration, hardness, and so on. Changes in chemical quality, including a decrease in Vitamin C content and the occurrence of a browning process, as well as organoleptic quality which includes taste, texture, color and smell.

G. Effect of Heating on Fruit Leather Quality

The purpose of cooking is to extract pectin and flavor substances from the *fruit*, help the mixing and unification between pectin, sugar and acid to form a good jam. Cooking is done at 60-70°C until the total soluble solids are 65-68% as measured by a refractometer (Muchtadi, 1997).

According to Desrosier (2008), boiling is an important stage in the manufacture of *fruit leather that* must be thickened quickly to the critical point for carrageenan, which is at a temperature of 70° °C. The purpose of heating is so that gel formation occurs and can bind fibers, water and other compounds contained in the fruit pulp. Prolonged boiling not only causes hydrolysis of pectin and evaporation of acids, but also causes loss of flavor and color. When evaporation is stopped is determined by the high content of dissolved solid matter in the substrate.

H. Decision Analysis

A decision is an action to choose an alternative choice or solution to realize a desire. Decision analysis is the basis for choosing the best alternative determination. Each alternative that is estimated is determined to have the predicted results. The decision made is by evaluating numerical values, this evaluation is generally expressed through financial values, so what is done is to compare aspects of quality, quantity, and financial aspects (Dermawan, 2005).

One of the methods for decision making is the effectiveness test (De Garmo *et al.*, 1984) which determines the best treatment by giving weighted values to each parameter with a number 0-1. The weighted values differ depending on the importance of each parameter resulting from the treatment.

I. Theoretical Foundation

According to Febrianto (2011), the requirements of fruits that can be used for making *fruit leather* are fruits that have sufficient maturity, low water content, contain high fiber, and have a strong flavor. Pineapple hull has a moisture content of 83.68%, ash content of 2.13%, pH 4.32, reducing sugar content of 14.38%, pectin content of 1.82% (Efendi, R., et al, 2018), crude fiber at 1.39% (Sengar, et al, 2021), vitamin C of 68.56 mg/100g, and DPPH capture activity of 64.86% (Vrianty, et al, 2019). Meanwhile, pineapple peel contains 81.72% water, 17.53% carbohydrate, 4.41% protein, 13.65% reducing sugar, 24.4 mg/100g vitamin C, and 59.05% antioxidant inhibition activity (Putri *et. al*, 2018). Pineapple peel also contains crude fiber of 2.41% (Sengar, et al, 2021) and pectin which is quite high at $\pm 8\%$ (Ezugwu, et al, 2014). Pineapple stump and skin also contain phenolic compounds and flavonoids (Lobo and Yahia, 2016). Based on their characteristics, both ingredients are qualified as raw materials for making *fruit leather*.

Fiber content in the ingredients plays a very important role in making *fruit leather*, according to Darojat (2010) fiber is able to bind water and can maintain texture. The amount of fiber will affect the amount of water bound, high fiber content increases the ability to absorb water because in the fiber there are quite a lot of free hydroxyl groups that are polar (Santoso, 2011). This can make the resulting *fruit leather* texture more elastic, compact, and not sticky (Darojat, 2010). If the water content in the material is higher than the fiber content, it will produce a soft and not compact texture because the ability to bind water will be reduced (Lamban, 2017).

Fruit leather is one of the food products such as dried sweets with a moisture content of 10-20% (Raab & Oehler, 2000) which is in the form of thin sheets with a thickness of 2-3 mm, has a distinctive taste according to the fruits used, high in fiber (Marzelly *et. al*, 2017). The expected criteria of *fruit leather* are having an attractive color, a slightly clayey and compact texture, and having good plasticity so that it can be rolled or not easily broken or torn (Yenrina *et. al*, 2019). The criteria for making *fruit leather are* determined by acid content, sugar content, and high fiber or pectin content (Nurkaya et al., 2020). *Fruit leather* has several advantages, namely a long shelf life, easy to produce and the nutritional content does not change much (Kwartiningsih and Mulyati, 2005).

The sugar content in *fruit leather is* not less than 45% and contains soluble solids of not less than 55%. Sugar in the manufacture of *fruit leather* has an important role that is interdependent between acid and pectin, this component is very influential on the formation of gel in *fruit leather* (Alvina, 2015). Semi-solid gel formation can be made from pectin-acid-sugar and water, the optimum conditions for gel formation are pectin content of 0.75-1.5%, sugar content of 67-70% and pH 3.2-3.5 (Buckle, 2009).

The plasticity and texture levels of *fruit leather* will be less good if it only relies on natural pectin contained in the raw materials because it is not optimal in the gel formation process, so it is necessary to add gelling agents such as carrageenan, because carrageenan is included in the hydrocolloid group. According to Sidi (2014), hydrocolloids can function as adhesives, water binders, emulsifiers, gelling agents, and thickeners for processed food products. Carrageenan is used because besides being hydrophilic, it is more stable in immobilizing water at lower concentrations and stronger in gel formation. Carrageenan is soluble in hot water and will form a gel at 45°C and 65°C, stable to neutral and acidic pH, and strong in gel formation (Mawarni, et al, 2018).

The process of carrageenan gel formation begins with the change of carrageenan polymer into a *random coil* shape. This change is due to the heating process with a temperature higher than the carrageenan gel formation temperature. When the temperature is lowered, the carrageenan polymer will form a *double helix* structure and produce *junction* points and polymer chains (Glicksman, 1979 in Pritanova, 2013). Kappa carrageenan forms a hard and elastic gel. Of all the carrageenans, kappa carrageenan provides the strongest stable gel (Angka and Suhartono, 2000).

Research on *fruit leather* has been conducted by several researchers including, Pulungan, et al (2020) which shows the best treatment for the ratio of pineapple fruit *puree* and red dragon fruit peel *puree* 80%: 20% and the addition of carrageenan 0.6% and sorbitol 8% with a moisture content of 9.5%; total acid 1.46%; total sugar 36.25%; antioxidant activity 73.93%, and organoleptic testing which includes taste, color, texture, and aroma using the *hedonic scale* method as a whole favored by panelists. Research by Sidi, et al (2014) produced the best proportion of pineapple and carrot *fruit leather* 50%: 50% and the addition of carrageenan 0.6% and sorbitol 9.8% with a moisture content of 12.49%; ash

content 2.73%; water activity (Aw) 0.46%; tensile strength 1.91 N; food fiber content 4.15%, and organoleptic testing which includes taste, color, texture and aroma using the *scoring* method as a whole has a value of 3.96 which indicates that the proportion is preferred by panelists. While the results of Mila's research (2019), showed the best treatment of the proportion of pineapple and red dragon fruit 75: 25 (%) and the addition of 0.4% carrageenan with water content 4.58%; fiber content 6.71%; total sugar 20.73%; vitamin C 53.21 mg/g; texture 1.28 N; *lightness* value 23.54, as well as organoleptic testing which includes taste, color, aroma, and texture using the *hedonic scale* method as a whole favored by panelists.

J. Hypothesis

It is suspected that the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stump : peel and the concentration of carrageenan has an effect on the physicochemical and organoleptic properties of the *fruit leather* produced.

CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Place and Time of Research

This research was conducted in the Food Processing Technology laboratory, Food Analysis laboratory, and Sensory Test laboratory of the Food Technology Study Program of UPN "Veteran" East Java. This research was conducted from May 2023 to June 2023.

B. Research Materials

a. Raw materials

The raw materials used in the manufacture of *fruit leather* are pineapple stem and skin, as well as granulated sugar obtained from Pucang market Surabaya, and kappa carrageenan obtained from Tristar shop Surabaya.

b. Chemicals for analysis

Chemicals for analysis include distilled water, H_2SO_4 1.25 N, 1% amylum, 0.01 mm DPPH (in ethanol), 3.25 N NaOH, K_2SO_4 lodine, and methanol.

C. Research Tools

Tools used in the manufacture of *fruit leather* include scales and processing tools (spoons, plates, knives, blenders, baking sheets, *cabinet dryers*, etc.). Tools used for analysis include weighing bottle, 500 ml volumetric flask, 500 ml erlenmeyer, oven, desiccator, *beaker glass,* dropper pipette, volumetric pipette, tweezers, analytical balance, filter paper, water bath, measuring cup and spectophotometer, burette, pump and *burchner* funnel.

D. Research Methodology

This research was conducted using a completely randomized design (CRD) factorial pattern with two factors and two replicates. The data obtained were analyzed using ANOVA (*Analysis of Variance*) test at the 5% level. To determine the difference, it was continued with DMRT (*Duncan's Multiple Range Test*) test.

1. Changeable Variables

Factor I : Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)

- A1 = Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (60:40)
- A2 = Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (50 : 50)
- A3 = Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (40 : 60)

Factor II : Carrageenan Concentration (%)

B1 = 0,6 %

B2 = 0,8 %

B3 = 1,0 %

	B1	B2	B3
A1	A1B1	A1B2	A1B3
A2	A2B1	A2B2	A2B3
A3	A3B1	A3B2	A3B3

Description:

A1B1 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (60:40), carrageenan concentration 0.6%

A1B2 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (60:40), concentration of carrageenan 0.8%

A1B3 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (60:40), carrageenan concentration 1.0%

A2B1 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (50:50), carrageenan concentration 0.6%

A2B2 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (50:50), carrageenan concentration 0.8%

A2B3 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (50:50), carrageenan concentration 1.0%

A3B1 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (40:60), carrageenan concentration 0.6%

A3B2 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (40:60), concentration of carrageenan 0.8%

A3B3 = Proportion of Pineapple Tuber:Peel (40:60), carrageenan concentration 1.0%

According to Yitnosumarto (1993), a statistical model that uses a factorial pattern with 2 factors is as follows:

Yijk =
$$\mu$$
 + α i + β j + ($\alpha\beta$)ij + ϵ ijk

Description:

- Yijk= the observation value in the kth experiment that received the -ij treatment combination (i-th level of factor A and j-th level of factor B).
- M= common mean (actual mean)
- ai= the effect of the i-th treatment of factor I
- βj= jth treatment effect of factor II
- $(\alpha\beta)$ ij= interaction effect of i-th level of factor A and j-th level of factor B.
- Eijk= use error from the kth experimental unit that received the jth treatment combination.

2. Fixed variables

The fixed variables required in this study are :

- a. Weight of 100gr pineapple bark peel pulp mixture
- b. Ingredients and water ratio (1:1)
- c. 20% Sugar Addition (w/b)
- d. Heating temperature ±70 C°
- e. Drying temperature 70 C°
- f. Cooking time ± 3 minutes
- g. Drying time ± 7 hours

E. Research Parameters

The parameters observed in this study were:

- 1. Raw Material Analysis:
 - a. Oven method moisture content (AOAC, 2005)
 - b. Vitamin C content analysis (Sudarmadji, 1997)
 - c. Crude fiber content analysis (Sudarmadji, 1997)
 - d. Antioxidant activity test (Subagio, 2001)
 - e. Analysis of reducing sugar content Luff-Schoorl method (Sulaiman, 1994)

- 2. *Fruit Leather* Analysis:
 - a. Oven method moisture content (AOAC, 2005)
 - b. Antioxidant activity test (Subagio, 2001)
 - c. Tensile strength analysis with *Tenzile Strength* (Lloyd Universal Testing Instrument 1000S)
 - d. Analysis of sugar content Reduction method Luff-Schoorl (Sulaiman, 1994)
 - e. Crude fiber content analysis (Sudarmadji, 1997)
 - f. Analysis of Vitamin C content (Sudarmadji, 1997)
 - g. Hedonic organoleptic method includes taste, color, and texture (Wulandari *et al.*, 2008).
- 3. Best Treatment Analysis
 - a. Analysis of dietary fiber content (AOAC, 2005)

F. Research Procedure

1. Preparation of Pineapple Pith - Peel Porridge

a. Raw Material Preparation

Pineapple hulls and skins obtained from the Pucang Surabaya market were sorted and washed with running water until they were clean from dirt. Then the separation of the eyes of the fruit was carried out until the clean skin was obtained.

b. Destruction

Crushing the ingredients using water in *a* ratio of 1:1 until the ingredients become like porridge. Crushing is done using a blender at medium speed.

c. Filtering

Coarse screening of the pineapple peel was carried out to separate it from the coarse parts until a fine pulp was obtained.

2. Fruit Leather Making

a. Weighing

Weighing the proportion of pulp: pineapple peel pulp as 60: 40, 50: 50, and 40: 60 (w/b).

b. Mixing

Mixing was carried out with the proportion of pulp: Pineapple Peel (60:40, 50:50, and 40:60) and Carrageenan (0.6%; 0.8%; 1%), and 20% sugar.

c. Warm up

The ingredients that have been mixed are then heated on the stove at a temperature of \pm 70° C for \pm 3 minutes on low heat and stirred until homogeneous.

d. Printing

The heated dough mixture is then poured on a baking sheet that has been coated with plastic with a thickness of \pm 2-3 mm for the molding process.

e. Drying

The dough that has been poured into the pan is then dried using a *cabinet dryer* with a temperature of 70° C for ± 7 hours.

f. Cutting and Rolling

After the dough is dry, it is cut into 5 x 5 cm pieces, then rolled.

g. Analysis

Analysis is carried out on raw materials and finished products. After analysis, the product is packaged using *polyethylene* plastic.

The flowchart for the preparation of pineapple stump - peel pulp can be seen in **Figure 4** and the flowchart for the preparation of pineapple stump - peel *fruit leather* can be seen in **Figure 5**.





CHAPTER IV RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The analysis carried out in this study began with the analysis of raw materials in the form of pineapple hulls and peels. Analysis of raw materials includes water content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, and crude fiber content. Analysis of *fruit leather* products includes water content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, crude fiber content, and organoleptic including color, taste, aroma, and texture. The best treatment results were obtained with the *de garmo* method and further analysis in the form of dietary fiber content.

A. Raw Material Analysis Results

The results of the analysis of raw materials consisting of raw material analysis of pineapple hulls and peels, which include moisture content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, and crude fiber content. The analysis results obtained are as follows:

	Bonggol		Skin	
Component	Analysis	Literature	Analysis	Literature
	Result		Result	
Water Content (%)	80,82 ± 0,18	83,68 ^{a)}	79,08 ± 0,19	81,72 ^{e)}
Reduced Sugar (%)	16,56 ± 0,32	14,38 ^{a)}	14,20 ± 0,15	13,65 ^{e)}
Vitamin C (mg/100g)	72,44 ± 0,92	68,56 ^{b)}	29,70 ± 0,56	24,4 ^{f)}
Antioxidant Activity (%)	68,10 ± 1,15	64,86 ^{c)}	58,06 ± 1,15	59,05 ^{f)}
Crude Fiber (%)	1,53 ± 0,03	1,39 ^{d)}	2,04 ± 0,03	2,41 ^{d)}
pH	4,16 ± 0,04	4,32 ^{a)}	5,83 ± 0,06	6,3 ^{g)}

Table 0. Analytical results of pineappie null and peel raw materia	Table 6: Ana	lytical results of	pineapple hull and	peel raw materials
---	--------------	--------------------	--------------------	--------------------

Source: a) Efendi, R., et al (2018), b) Titin, et al (2011), c) Vrianty, et al (2019), d) Sengar, et al (2021), e) Ezugwu, et al (2014), f) Putri *et. al,* (2018), g) Gunawan (2018)

Based on Table 6. the results of the analysis of pineapple hull and peel raw materials show a slight difference between the results of the analysis of raw materials and the literature, including differences in moisture content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, and crude fiber content.

The results of the analysis of the moisture content of pineapple pith amounted to 80.82% which was lower than the literature of Efendi, et al (2018), which amounted to 83.68%. The reduced sugar content of pineapple pith is 16.56% which is higher than the literature of Efendi, et al (2018), which is 14.38%. Vitamin C content of pineapple pith was obtained at 72.44 mg/100g which was higher than the literature of Titin, et al (2011), which was 68.56 mg/100g. The results of the antioxidant activity analysis of pineapple pith amounted to 68.10% which is higher than the literature of Vrianty, et al (2019), which amounted to 64.86%. The crude fiber content of pineapple pith is 1.53% which is higher than the literature of Sengar, et al (2021), which is 1.39%. The pH value of pineapple stem is 4.12 which is lower than the literature of Efendi, et al (2018), which is 4.32. Differences in the results of the analysis of water content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, and crude fiber content in pineapple pith can be influenced by several factors, namely differences in type, maturity level, climatic conditions, place of growth, and post-harvest fruit storage. This is supported by Mashud and Matana (2014), that the chemical composition of a plant can be influenced by several factors, namely plant age, soil and climate conditions, and the statement of Firmansyah, et al (2016), that the increase in nutrients and phytochemical compounds such as antioxidant activity is also influenced by the level of fruit maturity, the higher the level of fruit maturity, the higher the nutritional content.

The results of the analysis of pineapple peel moisture content of 79.08% which is lower than the literature of Ezugwu, et al (2014), which is 81.72%. The reduced sugar content of pineapple peel is 14.20% which is higher than the literature of Ezugwu, et al (2014), which is 13.66%. Vitamin C content of pineapple peel was obtained at 29.70 mg/100g which is higher than the literature of Putri et. al, (2018), which is 24/4 mg/100g. The result of antioxidant activity analysis of pineapple peel is 58.06% which is lower than the literature of Putri et. al, (2018), which is 59.05%. Crude fiber content of pineapple peel is 2.04% which is lower than the literature of Sengar, et al (2021), which is 2.41%. The pH value of pineapple peel is 5.83 which is lower than the literature of Gunawan (2018), which is 6.3. Differences in the results of the analysis of water content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, and crude fiber content in pineapple peels can be influenced by several factors, namely differences in type, maturity level, climatic conditions, place of growth, and post-harvest fruit storage. This is supported by Mashud and Matana (2014), that the chemical composition of a plant can be influenced by several factors, namely plant age, soil and climate conditions and the statement of Firmansyah, et al (2016), that the increase in nutrients and phytochemical compounds such as antioxidant activity is also influenced by the level of fruit maturity, the higher the level of fruit maturity, the higher the nutritional content.

B. Fruit Leather Product Analysis Results

1. Water Content

Based on the results of the analysis of variance (Appendix 4.) showed that there was a real interaction ($p \le 0.05$) between the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stem and peel and the concentration of carrageenan on the moisture content of *fruit leather and* each treatment had a significant effect on the moisture content of *fruit leather*. The average value of *fruit leather* moisture content with the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stem and peel and carrageenan concentration can be seen in Table 7.

Treat	ment			
Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Carrageenan Concentration (%)	Water Content (%)	Notation	DMRT
60 : 40	0,6	$12,38 \pm 0,25$	а	-
60 : 40	0,8	12,85 ± 0,20	b	0,34
60 : 40	1,0	13,38 ± 0,04	С	0,35
50 : 50	0,6	$14,06 \pm 0,05$	d	0,36
50 : 50	0,8	15,79 ± 0,13	е	0,37
50 : 50	1,0	$16,26 \pm 0,09$	f	0,37
40 : 60	0,6	16,79 ± 0,13	g	0,37
40 : 60	0,8	17,21 ± 0,18	h	0,37
40 : 60	1,0	17,78 ± 0,15	i	0,37

Table 7: Average Value of Moisture Content of *Fruit Leather* with Pineapple Peel

 Treatment: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration

Table 7 shows that the average moisture content of *fruir leather* ranged from 12.38 - 17.78%. The treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith and peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% produced the highest moisture content of 17.78%, while the treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith and peel of 60 : 40 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced the lowest water content of 12.38%. The relationship between the treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith and peel pith petween the treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith and peel pith petween the treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith and peel pith and peel pith and peel pith petween the treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith and peel pith and peel and the concentration of carrageenan in the manufacture of *fruit leather* to the moisture content can be seen in Figure 6.


Figure 6: Relationship between the Proportion of Pineapple Peel and the Concentration of Carrageenan on the Moisture Content of Fruit Leather: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration on the Moisture Content of *Fruit Leather*.

Figure 6 shows that the lower the proportion of pineapple hull and the higher the proportion of pineapple peel, and the higher the concentration of carrageenan, the moisture content of *fruit leather* increases. This is because pineapple peel contains relatively high fiber which is easy to bind water and carrageenan also has the ability to bind water, the fiber content of pineapple pith is 1.53% and pineapple peel is 2.04%. Fiber content is very important in making *fruit leather*, because the amount of fiber affects the amount of bound water, high fiber content increases the ability to absorb water because there are quite a lot of free hydroxyl groups in the fiber which are polar. Similarly, the higher concentration of carrageenan can increase the moisture content of *fruit leather*, because carrageenan is a hydrocolid that functions as a gelling agent and water binder so that it can increase the moisture content of the final product.

This is supported by Lamban (2017), that if the water content in the material is higher than the fiber content, it will produce a soft and not compact texture because the ability to bind water will be reduced. Fiber is able to bind water and maintain texture (Darojat, 2010). This is also supported by Legowo and Nurwanto (2004), that increasing the concentration of carrageenan causes an increase in the moisture content of *leather* products, because the higher the concentration of hydrocolloids, the *more* water is bound in the hydrocolloid network, and the formation of gels in carrageenan occurs due to the cross-linking of polymer chains so that a three-dimensional mesh is formed that will capture water in it to form a strong and rigid structure (Nuraini, 2001).

In the process of making *fruit leather, the* heating and drying temperatures used have not reached the temperature of evaporation of water content, so not much water is evaporated during the process of making *fruit leather*. This is supported by Sudarmadji, et al (2013), that weakly bound water is water that is absorbed on the surface of macromolecular colloids such as protein, pectin, carrageenan, starch, and cellulose which are easily evaporated by heating at a temperature of 95-110° C.

2. Reduced Sugar Content

Based on the results of the analysis of variance (Appendix 5.) showed that there was a real interaction ($p\leq0.05$) between the treatment of the proportion of pomace: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on the reduction sugar content of *fruit leather*. Similarly, each treatment had a significant effect on the reduction sugar content of *fruit leather*. The average value of reducing sugar content of *fruit leather* with the treatment of proportion of pomace : pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on the reducing sugar content of *fruit leather*.

Irea	tment			
Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Carrageenan Concentration (%)	Reduced Sugar (%)	Notation	DMRT
60 : 40	0,6	25,60 ± 0,13	G	0,19
60 : 40	0,8	25,70 ± 0,08	G	0,19
60 : 40	1,0	$26,02 \pm 0,07$	Н	0,19
50 : 50	0,6	24,15 ± 0,07	D	0,18
50 : 50	0,8	24,54 ± 0,05	E	0,18
50 : 50	1,0	24,83 ± 0,04	F	0,19
40 : 60	0,6	23,04 ± 0,03	A	-
40 : 60	0,8	23,54 ± 0,05	В	0,17
40 : 60	1,0	23,82 ± 0,10	С	0,18

Table 8. Average Value of Reduced Sugar Content of *Fruit Leather* with the

 Treatment of Pork: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration

Table 8 shows that the average reduction sugar content of *fruir leather* ranged from 23.04 - 26.02%. The treatment of the proportion of pomace: pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% resulted in the highest reduction

sugar content of 26.02%, while the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced the lowest reduction sugar content of 23.04%. The relationship between the proportion of pith : pineapple peel with the addition of various concentrations of carrageenan in the manufacture of *fruit leather* to the level of reducing sugar can be seen in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Pomegranate: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration on Reduced Sugar Content of *Fruit Leather*.

Figure 7 shows that the higher the proportion of pineapple pith or the lower the proportion of pineapple peel, and the higher the concentration of carrageenan, the higher the reducing sugar content of *fruit leather*. This is because pineapple pith has a higher reducing sugar content of 16.56%, compared to pineapple peel which is 14.20%. Similarly, carrageenan concentration also influenced the increase in reducing sugar content due to the heating process, because during the heating process the carrageenan polymer will form a gel. The ability of gel formation on carrageenan occurs when the hot solution is allowed to cool down due to the reaction of anhydro-galactose formation which is a gelling group, in the structure of carrageenan there is the presence of galactan molecules with the main unit is galactose which is a class of reducing sugars. So that the higher the concentration of carrageenan, the formation of anhydro-galactose by heating will increase the reducing sugar content in *fruit leather*. This is supported by Distantina, et al (2012), that carrageenan gel is caused by the reaction of anhydro-galactose formation which is a gelling group, and Basuki, et al (2014) also stated that in the structure of carrageenan there is the presence of galactan molecules with the main units

being galactose which contains hydroxyl groups that are reactive and reducing at the end of its wake structure. This is also supported by Efendi, et al (2018) that the reducing sugar content of pineapple stump is 14.38%, while the reducing sugar content in pineapple skin is 13.65% (Ezugwu, et al 2014).

3. Vitamin C content

Based on the results of the analysis of variance (Appendix 6.) shows that there is a real interaction ($p \le 0.05$) between the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on vitamin C content of *fruit leather* and each treatment has a significant effect on vitamin C content of *fruit leather*. The average value of vitamin C content of *fruit leather* with the treatment of proportion of pith : pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration can be seen in Table 9.

Trea	tment			
Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Carrageenan Concentration (%)	Vitamin C (mg/100g)	Notation	DMRT
60 : 40	0,6	15,44 ± 0,08	ef	0,22
60 : 40	0,8	15,64 ± 0,08	f	0,22
60 : 40	1,0	16,15 ± 0,02	g	0,22
50 : 50	0,6	14,84 ± 0,08	С	0,21
50 : 50	0,8	$15,19 \pm 0,15$	d	0,22
50 : 50	1,0	15,37 ± 0,09	de	0,22
40 : 60	0,6	$14,42 \pm 0,08$	а	-
40 : 60	0,8	14,55 ± 0,06	ab	0,20
40 : 60	1,0	$14,74 \pm 0,09$	bc	0,21

Table 9: Average Value of Vitamin C Content of *Fruit Leather* with Pineapple Peel

 Treatment: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration

Table 8 shows that the average vitamin C content of *fruir leather* ranged from 14.42 - 16.15%. The treatment of the proportion of stump: pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% produced the highest vitamin C content of 16.15%, while the treatment of the proportion of pineapple pith : pineapple peel 40: 60 with the addition of 0.6% carrageenan produced the lowest vitamin C content of 14.42%. The relationship between the treatment of the proportion of pine proportion of the proportion of pine proportion of pine proportion of pine peel 40: 60 with the addition of 0.6% carrageenan produced the lowest vitamin C content of 14.42%.

pineapple peel with the addition of various concentrations of carrageenan in the manufacture of *fruit leather* to vitamin C content can be seen in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Relationship between the Treatment of Proportion of Pomegranate: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration on Vitamin C Content of *Fruit Leather*.

Figure 8 shows that the lower the proportion of pineapple hull or the higher the proportion of pineapple peel, as well as the higher the concentration of carrageenan, with the addition of carrageenan which is water-binding and able to protect the components contained so as to maintain vitamin C levels in *fruit leather*. This is because pineapple stem has a higher vitamin C content of 72.44 mg/100g, compared to pineapple peel of 29.70 mg/100g. Similarly, carrageenan concentration can also maintain vitamin C levels in fruit leather, because carrageenan is a hydrocolloid compound that has water-binding properties and can protect vitamin C from heating and avoid the loss of vitamin C content. The higher concentration of carrageenan can maintain vitamin C levels by being coated by a three-dimensional matrix formed by carrageenan so that it is not easily lost during the heating process, because carrageenan has a hydroxyl group, so that it can protect bioactive compounds in a three-dimensional matrix from heat (Masuda, et al., 2004). In addition, during the process of making *fruit leather the* temperature used has not reached a temperature that can cause damage to vitamin C, because vitamin C begins to degrade or damage at temperatures above 80° C (Hok, et al, 2007). This is also supported by Titin, et al (2011), that the vitamin C content of pineapple stem is 68.56 mg/100g, while the vitamin C content of pineapple skin is 24.4 mg/100g.

4. Antioxidant Activity

Based on the results of the analysis of variance (Appendix 7.) showed that there was a significant interaction ($p\leq0.05$) between the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on the antioxidant activity of *fruit leather* and each treatment had a significant effect on the antioxidant activity of *fruit leather*. The average value of antioxidant activity of *fruit leather* with the treatment of proportion of pith : pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration carrageenan concentration can be seen in Table 10.

Trea	tment			
Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Carrageenan Concentration (%)	Antioxidant Activity (%)	Notation	DMRT
60 : 40	0,6	$27,44 \pm 0,08$	ef	0,22
60 : 40	0,8	27,64 ± 0,08	f	0,22
60 : 40	1,0	28,15 ± 0,02	g	0,22
50 : 50	0,6	26,84 ± 0,08	С	0,21
50 : 50	0,8	$27,19 \pm 0,15$	d	0,22
50 : 50	1,0	27,37 ± 0,09	de	0,22
40 . 60	0,6	$26,42 \pm 0,08$	а	-
40 : 60	0,8	26,55 ± 0,06	ab	0,20
40 : 60	1,0	$26,74 \pm 0,09$	bc	0,21

Table 10: Average Value of Antioxidant Activity of *Fruit Leather* Treated withPineapplePeel and Carrageenan Concentration:PineapplePeel andCarrageenan Concentration

Table 10 shows that the average antioxidant activity of *fruir leather* ranged from 26.42 - 28.15%. The treatment of the proportion of pomace: pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% resulted in the highest antioxidant activity of 28.15%, while the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced the lowest antioxidant activity of 26.42%. The relationship between the treatment of proportion of pomace : pineapple peel and various concentrations of carrageenan in making *fruit leather* on antioxidant activity can be seen in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Relationship between the Proportion of Pineapple Peel and the Addition of Carrageenan Concentration to the Antioxidant Activity of Fruit Leather: Pineapple Peel and the Addition of Carrageenan Concentration to the Antioxidant Activity of *Fruit Leather*.

Figure 9 shows that the lower the proportion of pineapple pith or the higher the proportion of pineapple peel, and the higher the concentration of carrageenan, the higher the antioxidant activity of *fruit leather*. This is because pineapple pith has a higher antioxidant activity of 68.10%, compared to pineapple peel of 58.06%, but there is a significant decrease in antioxidant activity in *fruit leather* products compared to the antioxidant activity of the raw materials. This can occur because the catechin compounds in pineapple stem and skin are polyphenols which are polar antioxidants, which are hydrophilic so that during the preparation process of raw materials, these antioxidant compounds decrease due to exposure to water (Putri, et al., 2021). The addition of carrageenan can prevent the oxidation of antioxidant compounds during the heating process in the manufacture of fruit leather, because carrageenan is a hydrocolloid compound that has the property of binding water and can protect the components in the material from heating and avoid the loss of antioxidant compounds. The higher concentration of carrageenan can maintain antioxidant compounds by being coated by a three-dimensional matrix formed by carrageenan so that it is not easily lost during the heating process, because carrageenan has a hydroxyl group, so it can protect bioactive compounds in a three-dimensional matrix from heat (Masuda, et al, 2004). This is also supported by Vrianty, et al (2019), that the antioxidant activity of pineapple bark is 64.86%, while the antioxidant activity of pineapple skin is 59.05%.

Antioxidant compounds contained in pineapple hull and skin, namely phenol and flavonoid compounds (Lobo and Yahia, 2016).

5. Crude Fiber Content

Based on the results of the analysis of variance (Appendix 8.) showed that there was a real interaction ($p \ge 0.05$) between the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on the crude fiber content of *fruit leather and* each treatment had a significant effect on the crude fiber content of *fruit leather*. The average value of crude fiber content of *fruit leather* with the treatment of the proportion of bark: pineapple peel can be seen in Table 11.

Carrageenan Co	ncentration			
Trea	tment			
Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Carrageenan Concentration (%)	Crude Fiber Content (%)	Notation	DMRT
60 : 40	0,6	$2,05 \pm 0,08$	а	-
60 : 40	0,8	$2,33 \pm 0,05$	b	0,18
60 : 40	1,0	$2,49 \pm 0,06$	С	0,18
50 : 50	0,6	$2,62 \pm 0,05$	С	0,19
50 : 50	0,8	$2,82 \pm 0,05$	d	0,19
50 : 50	1,0	$3,08 \pm 0,08$	е	0,19
40 : 60	0,6	3,22 ± 0,13	е	0,19
40 : 60	0,8	$3,72 \pm 0,06$	f	0,19
40 : 60	1,0	$4,04 \pm 0,10$	g	0,19

Table 11: Average Value of Coarse Fiber Content of *Fruit Leather* with theTreatment of Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration: Pineapple Peel andCarrageenan Concentration

Table 11 shows that the average crude fiber content of *fruir leather* ranged from 2.05 - 4.04%. The treatment of the proportion of pomace: pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% produced the highest crude fiber content of 4.04%, while the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced the lowest crude fiber content of 2.05%. The relationship between the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel peel and carrageenan concentration in the manufacture of *fruit leather* to crude fiber content content can be seen in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Relationship between the Proportion of Pineapple Peel and the Concentration of Carrageenan on the Coarse Fiber Content of Fruit Leather: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration on the Coarse Fiber Content of *Fruit Leather*.

Figure 10 shows that the lower the proportion of pineapple hull or the higher the proportion of pineapple peel, and the higher the concentration of carrageenan, the crude fiber content of *fruit leather* products increases. This is because pineapple peel has a higher crude fiber content of 2.04%, compared to pineapple hull, which is 1.53%. Similarly, the concentration of carrageenan can also affect the crude fiber content due to the presence of crude fiber content of 6.61% in carrageenan (Yasita, 2009), besides that carrageenan is a type of stabilizer that becomes a thickener from the polysaccharide group consisting of two types of monosaccharide units, namely galactose and anhydro-galactose. The use of carrageenan can affect the crude fiber content of *fruit leather*, because carrageenan has the ability to interact with fibers in pineapple stump and peel due to the presence of hydroxyl groups in carrageenan that can form hydrogen bonds with fibers, so as to hold the fiber content in the carrageenan matrix in fruit leather. This is supported by Estiasih and Ahmadi (2009), that carrageenan can bind the components contained in the material. Sengar, et al (2021), also stated that the crude fiber content of pineapple peel was 2.41%, while the crude fiber content of pineapple stump was 1.53%.

6. Tensile Strength

Based on the results of the analysis of variance (Appendix 9.) showed that there was a real interaction ($p \le 0.05$) between the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration on the tensile strength of *fruit leather*. Similarly, each treatment had a significant effect on the tensile strength of *fruit leather*. The average value of tensile strength of *fruit leather* with the treatment of proportion of bark: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration can be seen in Table 12.

Trea	tment			
Proportion of Tuber: Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Carrageenan Concentration (%)	Tensile Strength (N)	Notation	DMRT
60 : 40	0,6	1,46 ± 0,09	а	-
60:40	0,8	1,71 ± 0,08	b	0,22
60 : 40	1,0	1,95 ± 0,05	С	0,23
50 : 50	0,6	2,45 ± 0,11	d	0,23
50 : 50	0,8	$2,80 \pm 0,04$	е	0,24
50 : 50	1,0	$3,02 \pm 0,09$	f	0,24
40 : 60	0,6	$3,34 \pm 0,04$	g	0,24
40 : 60	0,8	3,81 ± 0,11	h	0,24
40 : 60	1,0	4,35 ± 0,17	i	0,24

Table 12: Average Value of Tensile Strength of *Fruit Leather* with the Treatment

 of Pineapple Pith: Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration

Table 12. shows that the average tensile strength of *fruir leather* ranged from 1.46 - 4.35 N. The treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% produced the highest tensile strength value of 4.35 N, while the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced the lowest tensile strength value of 1.46 N. The relationship between the treatment of the proportion of pith : pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration in the manufacture of *fruit leather* on tensile strength can be seen in Figure 10.





Figure 11 shows that the lower the proportion of pineapple pith or the higher the proportion of pineapple peel, and the higher the concentration of carrageenan, the tensile strength of *fruit leather* increases. This is because the higher the proportion of pineapple peel, the higher the organic acid content. The content of organic acids in pineapple peel includes citric acid, malic acid, and oxalic acid. Oxalic acid and citric acid are a group of strong organic acid compounds, which are able to increase the level of acidity, so that the pH will tend to be low or acidic and can help the formation of a stronger gel. Similarly, increasing the concentration of carrageenan can cause cross-linking of polymers consisting of a sufficient number of long-chain molecules, so that a continuous three-dimensional building will be formed that can form a rigid and tough structure that is resistant to certain forces and pressures (Astuti, et al., 2015).

This is supported by the statement of Suyata (2006), that oxalic acid is a strong organic acid with a pKa value of 1.3 - 4.3, and the statement of Sitorus, et al (2015), that the smaller the pKa value in organic compounds, the higher the acidity level and organic acids are able to form gels faster and provide high gel strength (Nopriantini, 2005). Darmawan, et al (2014), also stated that of all carrageenan, kappa carrageenan provides the strongest and most flexible tensile strength value.

7. Organoleptic Test (Hedonic/Liking Test)

Organoleptic test is conducted to determine the results of panelists' objective measurements of the sensory attributes of a product. The sensory attributes analyzed in the organoleptic test use the sensing system, namely color, taste, aroma, and texture. Organoleptic testing has an important role in the application of quality. Organoleptic testing can provide an indication of spoilage, quality deterioration and other damage to the product (Winarno, 2004). This test is carried out using the *hedonic scale* method, which is transformed into a numerical scale according to the level of favorability of the panelists, ranging from the smallest number to the largest number.

a. Color Taste Test

Color is one of the parameters that can influence consumers on the acceptance of a food product. If a food product has high nutritional value, good taste, and good texture, but if the color is less attractive, the product is likely to be less desirable (Safitri, et al, 2020). Based on the *Friedman* Test in Appendix 11. shows that the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stump: peel, as well as the concentration of carrageenan, there is no significant difference in the color of *fruit leather*. The average value of *fruit leather* color liking based on the treatment given can be seen in Table 13.

Tre	eatment		
Proportion of			
Tuber:	Carrageenan	Average	Total Rank
Pineapple Peel (w/b)	Concentration (%)		
60:40	0,6	3,36	115,5
60:40	0,8	3,64	141
60:40	1,0	3,48	127,5
50 : 50	0,6	3,60	141
50 : 50	0,8	3,44	125
50 : 50	1,0	3,52	129,5
40:60	0,6	3,68	145,5
40:60	0,8	3,16	104
40 : 60	1,0	3,12	96

Table 13: Average Value of Color Preference of *Fruit Leather* with the Treatmentof Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration: Pineapple Peel andCarrageenan Concentration

Description: ¹⁾The higher the number of ranks, the more favorable it is to the panelists. ²⁾Mean value 1 (strongly dislike), 2 (dislike), 3 (neutral), 4 (like), 5 (strongly like).

Based on Table 13. the level of panelists' liking for the color of *fruit leather* with the treatment of the proportion of bongo: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration obtained an average preference between 3.12 - 3.68. The treatment

of proportion of bongo: pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced *fruit leather* color with the highest level of preference with a total ranking of 145.5 and an average of 3.68, this result was liked by panelists because it had a slightly brownish yellow color. In the treatment of the proportion of stump: pineapple peel 40: 60 with the addition of carrageenan concentration of 1.0% produced *fruit leather* color with the lowest level of preference with a total ranking of 96 and an average of 3.12, which has a yellow color tending to brown. In the manufacture of *fruit leather*, there are several raw materials that contain reducing sugars, namely 16.56% of the stem and 14.20% of the skin and the addition of 20% sucrose which can cause the *maillard* reaction.

This is supported by Praseptiangga, et al (2016), which states that discoloration or browning that occurs in *fruit leather is* caused by the *maillard* reaction. *The maillard* reaction occurs due to the reaction between primary or free amino groups from proteins with aldehydes or ketones from reducing sugars and produces brown compounds (Suseno, et al, 2008). Thus, the proportion of pineapple stump : pineapple peel and the addition of carrageenan concentration did not significantly affect the color of *fruit leather*.

b. Taste Test

Taste is one of the factors that influence a person's acceptance of food products. The taste of a food product has an important role, because with taste indicators consumers can know and judge whether the food is delicious or not, the taste of a food product is influenced by the basic ingredients used (Fauziah, 2015). Based on the *Friedman* Test in Appendix 13. shows that the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stump: pineapple peel, as well as the concentration of carrageenan, there is no significant difference in the taste of *fruit leather*. The average value of *fruit leather* flavor preference based on the treatment given can be seen in Table 14.

Table 14: Average Value of *Fruit Leather* Flavor Favorability with the Treatment ofPineapplePeelandCarrageenanCarrageenanConcentration:PineapplePeelandCarrageenan

Treatment	Average	Total Rank

Proportion of	Carrageenan		
Tuber: Pineapple	Concentration		
Peel (w/b)	(%)		
60:40	0,6	3,36	113
60:40	0,8	3,52	124
60:40	1,0	3,16	95,5
50 : 50	0,6	3,60	131,5
50 : 50	0,8	3,76	145
50 : 50	1,0	3,44	117,5
40 : 60	0,6	3,80	148
40:60	0,8	3,68	136
40:60	1,0	3,40	114,5

Description: ¹⁾The higher the number of ranks, the more favorable it is to the panelists. ²⁾Mean value 1 (strongly dislike), 2 (dislike), 3 (neutral), 4 (like), 5 (strongly like).

Based on Table 14. the level of panelists' liking for the taste of *fruit leather* and carrageenan concentration obtained an average liking between 3.16 - 3.80. The treatment of the proportion of fruit leather: pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced *fruit leather* flavor with the highest level of liking with a total ranking of 148 and an average of 3.80. In the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel 60: 40 with the addition of 1.0% carrageenan concentration resulted in the taste of *fruit leather* with the lowest level of preference with a total ranking of 95.5 and an average of 3.16, both of which had a sweet taste. The sweet taste produced is due to the addition of sucrose by 20% in the manufacture of *fruit leather*.

This is supported by Marzelly (2015), which states that the presence of sugar or sucrose can improve the taste of food ingredients. The sweetness of granulated sugar is pure because it does not leave an *after taste in* the food. The addition of carrageenan also does not affect the flavor of *fruit leather*, because carrageenan is a component that has no taste. Sweetness is more dominant in the flavor formed in *fruit leather* due to the addition of sucrose.

c. Aroma Taste Test

Aroma is one of the factors in food products that can be accepted by consumers. Aroma is produced by volatile compounds of a food product, when consuming food products, the aroma of food products will be smelled first (Winarno, 2004). Based on the *Friedman* Test in Appendix 15. shows that the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stump: peel, as well as the concentration of carrageenan, there is no significant difference in the aroma of *fruit leather*. The average value of *fruit leather* aroma preference based on the treatment given can be seen in Table 15.

Table 15: Mean Aroma Favorability of *Fruit Leather* Aroma: Pineapple Peel and

 Carrageenan Concentration

Ireati	nent		
Proportion of	Carrageenan	Average	Total Rank
Tuber: Pineapple	Concentration	, nonago	
Peel (w/b)	(%)		
60 : 40	0,6	2,88	102
60 : 40	0,8	3,08	118,5
60 : 40	1,0	3,12	122,5
50 : 50	0,6	3,40	150,5
50 : 50	0,8	3,08	115
50 : 50	1,0	3,24	133
40 : 60	0,6	3,48	153,5
40 : 60	0,8	2,96	107
40 : 60	1,0	3,16	123

Description: ¹⁾The higher the number of ranks, the more favorable it is to the panelists. ²⁾Mean value 1 (strongly dislike), 2 (dislike), 3 (neutral), 4 (like), 5 (strongly like).

Based on Table 15. the level of panelists' liking for the aroma of *fruit leather* with the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel and the concentration of carrageenan, the average liking is between 2.88 - 3.48. The treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced *fruit leather* flavor with the highest level of liking with a total ranking of 153.5 and an average of 3.48. In the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced *fruit leather* flavor with a total ranking of 102 and an average of 2.88, both of which had pineapple and sugar (sweet/caramel) aroma. In making *fruit leather*, there are ingredients that affect the aroma produced, namely the raw materials used in the form of pineapple stem and skin and the addition of sucrose.

This is supported by Estiasih (2009), which states that the formation of flavor compounds from caramelized sugar forms pyrodextrin and melanoidin, as well as the formation of aromatic compounds consisting of aldehydes, ketones, various esters, acids, and alcohols. The use of pineapple stump and peel also causes a distinctive aroma of pineapple *fruit* in *fruit leather* products.

d. Texture Sensitivity Test

Texture is a sense that is associated with touch or touch. Texture is an important physical property of food products because it has a relationship with the taste when chewing the product (Winarno, 2004). Based on the *Friedman* Test in Appendix 17. shows that the treatment of the proportion of pineapple stump: peel, as well as the concentration of carrageenan, there is a significant difference in the texture of *fruit leather*. The average value of *fruit leather* texture preference based on the treatment given can be seen in Table 16.

Based on Table 16. the level of panelists' liking for the texture of *fruit leather* with the treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel and carrageenan concentration, the average liking is between 2.72 - 3.64. The treatment of the proportion of pith: pineapple peel 40: 60 and carrageenan concentration of 0.6% produced the texture of *fruit leather* with the highest level of preference with a total ranking of 162 and an average of 3.64, which has a soft, soft and sticky texture. In the treatment of the proportion of stump: pineapple peel 60: 40 and carrageenan concentration of 1.0% produced *fruit leather* color with the lowest level of preference with a total rank of 90 and an average of 2.72, which has a clayey and compact texture.

Canageenan Concer			
Treati	ment		
Proportion of	Carrageenan	Average	Total Rank
Tuber: Pineapple	Concentration	, worago	i otar i taritt
Peel (w/b)	(%)		
60:40	0,6	2,88	99,5
60:40	0,8	2,84	101,5
60 : 40	1,0	2,72	90
50 : 50	0,6	3,44	144,5
50 : 50	0,8	3,48	155
50 : 50	1,0	3,36	139
40 : 60	0,6	3,64	162
40:60	0,8	3,36	139
40:60	1,0	2,84	94,5

Table 16: Average Value of *Fruit Leather* Texture Favorability with the Treatmentof Pineapple Peel and Carrageenan Concentration: Pineapple Peel andCarrageenan Concentration

Description: ¹⁾The higher the number of ranks, the more favorable it is to the panelists. ²⁾Mean value 1 (strongly dislike), 2 (dislike), 3 (neutral), 4 (like), 5 (strongly like).

The proportion of pineapple pith and peel affects the texture formed in *fruit leather*, the higher the addition of pineapple pith, the more water content and the texture becomes mushy and soft, while the more the addition of peel, the more fiber content and the texture becomes clayey and compact. The addition of carrageenan also affects the texture of *fruit leather, the more* carrageenan is added, the more clayey and hard the texture is.

This is supported by Darojat (2010), which states that fiber is able to bind water and maintain texture, as well as Lamban's (2017) statement, which states that if the water content in the material is higher than the fiber content, it will produce a soft and not compact texture because the ability to bind water will be reduced. Sidi (2014), also stated that hydrocolloids such as carrageenan because they can function as adhesives, water binders, emulsifiers, gelling, and product thickeners.

8. Decision Analysis

Determination of the best treatment for bonggl *fruit leather is* based on the calculation of effectiveness value (De Garmo *et. al*, 1984) on organoleptic and physicochemical characteristics. The table of the results of the analysis of the effectiveness value of physicochemical and organoleptic characteristics can be seen in Table 17.

Based on Table 17. the treatment with the proportion of bonggol: pineapple peel 50: 50 with the addition of 1% carrageenan concentration gets the highest total effectiveness value on physicochemical and organoleptic characteristics with a value of 16.26% moisture content, 24.83% reduction sugar content, 15.37 mg/100g vitamin C content, 27.37% antioxidant activity, 3.08% crude fiber content, and 3.02 N tensile strength and organoleptic characteristics including color 3.52 (neutral), taste 3.44 (neutral), aroma 3.24 (neutral), and texture 3.36 (neutral). The variable weight of the moisture content parameter uses the maximum weight because it is related to the physical value and functional value of *fruit leather*.

	Total Result Value (NH)					Variable	Normal				
Parameters	A1B1	A1B2	A1B3	A2B1	A2B2	A2B3	A3B1	A3B2	A3B3	Weight (BV)	Weight (BN)
Water Content	0,15	0,16	0,18	0,06	0,11	0,13	0,00	0,02	0,03	1,00	0,18
Reduced Sugar	0,08	0,08	0,09	0,03	0,05	0,05	0,00	0,02	0,02	0,50	0,09
Act. Antioxidant	0,01	0,01	0,02	0,00	0,01	0,01	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,10	0,02
Vitamin C	0,08	0,09	0,13	0,03	0,06	0,07	0,00	0,01	0,02	0,70	0,13
Crude Fiber	0,00	0,01	0,02	0,03	0,05	0,06	0,10	0,11	0,11	0,60	0,11
Tensile Strength	0,00	0,01	0,03	0,06	0,08	0,09	0,11	0,13	0,16	0,90	0,16
Color	0,03	0,07	0,05	0,06	0,04	0,05	0,07	0,01	0,00	0,40	0,07
Taste	0,02	0,03	0,00	0,04	0,05	0,02	0,05	0,04	0,02	0,30	0,05
Aroma	0,00	0,01	0,01	0,03	0,01	0,02	0,04	0,00	0,02	0,20	0,04
Texture	0,03	0,02	0,00	0,11	0,12	0,10	0,15	0,10	0,02	0,80	0,15
Total	0,39	0,50	0,53	0,45	0,57	0,61	0,52	0,44	0,41	5,50	1,00

Results of Analysis of Effectiveness Value (NE) of Physicochemical and Organoleptic Characteristics of *Fruit Leather*.

Notes: A1 = 60:40, A2 = 50:50, A3 = 40:60, B1 = 0.6%, B2 = 0.8%, B3 = 1.0%

9. Best Treatment Analysis

The best treatment analysis was carried out in the proportion of pineapple stump: pineapple peel 50: 50 : 50 with the addition of 1.0% carrageenan, because it showed the best treatment on organoleptic characteristics. The results of further analysis on the best treatment can be seen in Table 18.

Table 18: Analysis Result of Best Treatment of Fruit Leather

Parameters	Analysis Result
Total dietary fiber (%)	20,21
Water Soluble Dietary Fiber (%)	18,02
Water Insoluble Dietary Fiber	2,19
(%)	

The results of the analysis of the best treatment for *fruit leather* treatment of pineapple *fruit leather* with carrageenan concentration of 1.0% obtained a total food fiber content of 20.21% which included 18.02% water soluble food fiber content and 2.19% water insoluble food fiber content. Food fiber content in *fruit leather is* due to the addition of carrageenan. According to Sidi, et al (2014), that kappa carrageenan has a total dietary fiber content of 69.3 g/100 g with insoluble fiber content of 58.6 g and soluble fiber content of 10.7 g in *dry basis*.

Research conducted by Sidi, et al (2014), also showed that the results of pineapple and carrot *fruit leather* with carrageenan concentrations of 0%, 0.3%, 0.6%, and 0.9% produced food fiber levels in *dry basis of* 1.99%, 3.20%, 4.15%, and 5.74% respectively. This shows that the higher the carrageenan concentration, the higher the dietary fiber content in *fruit leather*.

CHAPTER V CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS

A. Conclusion

Based on the research results, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- 1. There was a significant interaction between the proportion of pineapple stump : peel with the addition of carrageenan on moisture content, reducing sugar content, vitamin C content, antioxidant activity, crude fiber and tensile strength.
- 2. The best treatment is the proportion of bonggol: pineapple peel 50: 50 : 50 with the addition of 1% carrageenan concentration, producing 16.26% moisture content, 24.83% reduction sugar content, 15.37 mg/100g vitamin C content, 27.37% antioxidant activity, 3.08% crude fiber content, 3.02 N tensile strength, 20.21% total dietary fiber content and organoleptic characteristics including color 3.52 (neutral), taste 3.44 (neutral), aroma 3.24 (neutral), and texture 3.36 (neutral).

B. Advice

- 1. Further research is needed to improve the texture of *fruit leather* so that it is more favorable to panelists.
- 2. Further research needs to be done on the shelf life of *fruit leather* products, so that they can become marketable products.

LITERATURE

- Abirami, R. G and Kowsalya, S. 2011. Nutrient and Nutraceutical Potentials of Seaweed Biomass Ulva latuca and Kappaphycus alvarezii. Journal of Agriculture Science and Technology, Vol. 5 (3): 109-115.
- Alvina. 2015. Fruit Leather, a Candy Replacement Snack. https://nuragnialvina.wordpress.com/2015/07/27/fruit-leather/. Accessed July 2022.
- Andani, N. M. S. 2011. Marigold. Accessed December 2022. http://nimadesriandani.wordpress.com/2011/03/13/marigold-bunga-mitiryang-menjadi-saksi-betapa-indahnya-hari/.
- Anggadireja, J. T., Zatmika, A., Purwoto, H, and Istini, S. 2007. Rumpu Laut. Penebar Swadaya. Jakarta.
- Anggraeni, D. P and Rahmawati, A. D. 2014. Effectiveness of Antibacterial Power of Pineapple Peel Extract (*Ananas comosus* L.) Against the Growth of *Streptococcus mutans*. Scientific Paper of Muhammadiyah University. Yogyakarta.
- Angka, S. L and Suhartono, M. T. 2000. Biotechnology of Marine Products. Center for Coastal and Marine Resources Studies. Bogor Agricultural University. Bogor.
- Apandi, M. 1994. Food Additives. Alumni Publisher. Bandung.
- Aryani, R. M. 2018. Effectiveness of Local Red Rose Flower Pigment Extract (*Rosa* sp.) and Carrageenan on the Quality of Soursop *Fruit Leather*. Thesis. Faculty of Agriculture and Animal Husbandry. University of Muhammadiyah Malang. Malang.
- Asben, A. 2007. Improvement of lodine Content and Dietary Fiber in the Manufacture of Pineapple *Fruit Leather (Ananas comosus Merr)* with the Addition of Seaweed. Scientific Research Article of Young Lecturer. Andalas University. Padang.
- Astuti, T., Widowati, E., and Atmaka, W. 2015. Study of Sensory, Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Horned Banana (*Musa cornoculata* L.) *Fruit Leather* with the Addition of Various Concentrations of Gum Arabic. Journal of Agricultural Product Technology, Vol. 7 (1): 6-14.
- Basuki, E. K., Mulyani, T., and Hidayati, L. 2014. Effect of Pineapple *Jelly* Candy with the Addition of Carrageenan and Gelatin. Rekapangan Journal, Vol. 8 (1): 39-49.

- Buckle, K. A., R. A. Edwards, G. H. Fleet, and M, Wootton. 2009. Food Science. UI-Press. Jakarta.
- Caesarita, D. P. 2011. Effect of 100% Pineapple Fruit Extract (*Ananas comosus* L. Merr) against *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria from pyoderma. Scientific Paper Artiker. Faculty of Medicine. Diponegoro University. Semarang.
- Campo, V. I., Kawano, D. F., Da Silva, D. B., and Carvalho, I. 2009. *Carrageenans: Biological Properties, Chemical Modification and Structural Analysis - A review. Carbohydrate Polymers*. 77: 167-180.
- Darmawan, Peranginagin, Syarif, Kusumaningrum, and Frabsiska. 2014. Effect of Carrageenan Addition for Instant Pudding Flour Formulation. JPB Fisheries, Vol. 9 (1): 35-43.
- Darojat, D. 2010. Benefits of Food Fiber Addition in Processed Meat Products. *Majala Food Review*, Vol. 5 (7): 52-53.
- De Garmo, E.P.W.G. Sullivan, and J.R. Canada. 1984. Engineering Economy The 7th Edition. New York: Macmillan Publishing Comp.
- Desrosier, N. W. 2008. Food Preservation Technology. UI-Press. Jakarta.
- Distantina, S., Fadilah, Y. C., Danarto, WIratni and Fahrurrozi. 2009. Effect of Process Conditions in *Euchema cottoni* Processing on Yield and Gel Properties of Carrageenan. Equilibrium. 8(1): 35-40.
- Efendi, R., Yusmarini, and Zulkifli. 2018. Making *Jelly* Candy from Carrot and Pineapple Stem. Proceedings. Faculty of Agriculture. Jambi University. Jambi.
- Effendi, A. M., Winarni, and Sumarni, M. 2012. Optimizing the Use of Bromelin Enzyme from Pineapple Bark Juice in the Preparation of Coconut Oil. *Indonesian Journal of Chemical Science*, Vol. 1 (1): 1-6.
- Ernie, A. B and Lestari, N. 1992. Development of Fruit Products into Fruit Leather Processed Products. BBIHP. Bogor.
- Estiasih, T and Ahmadi. 2009. Food Processing Technology. Bumi Aksara. Jakarta
- Ezugwu, A. L., Ezike, T. C., Ibeawuchi, A. N., Nsude, C. A., Udenwobele, D. I., Eze, S. O., Anyawu, C. U., and Chilaka, F. C. 2014. Comparative Studies on Pectinases Obtained from Aspergillus Fumigatus and Aspergillus Niger in Submerged Fermentation System Using Pectin Extracted from Mango, Orange, and Pinneaples Peels as Carbon Source. ISSN: 0189 17131.
- Fahmitasari, Y. 2004. Effect of Carrageenan Flour Addition on Liquid Soap Characteristics. Thesis. Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science. Bogor Agricultural University. Bogor.

- Fajarini, L., Ekawati, I. G., and Ina, P. T. 2018. Effect of Carrageenan Addition on the Characteristics of Black Grape Skin Jelly Candy (*Vitis vinivera*). ITEPA Journal, Vol. 7 (2).
- Fardiaz, S. 1989. Hydrocolloids. Food Microbiology Laboratory. Bogor Agricultural University. Bogor.
- Fauziah, E., Widowati, E., and Atmaka, W. 2015. Study of Sensory and Physicochemical Characteristics of Horned Banana (*Musa corniculata*) Fruit Leather with the Addition of Various Concentrations of Carrageenan. Journal of Food Technology Applications, Vol. 4 (1): 11-16.
- Febrianto, A. M. 2011. Mango *Leather* Dried Food Processions. http://teknologiagroindustri.lecture.ub.ac.id/2011/12/olahanmakanankeringlea ther-mangga. Accessed on November 17, 2022.
- Ferry, S. P., Manurung, M., and Puspitawati, N. M. 2015. Effectiveness of Anthocyanins of Jamblang Fruit Bark (*Syzygium cumini*) as *Low Density Lipoprotein* Reducer in the Blood of Wistar Rats Experiencing Hypercholesterolemia, Journal of Cakra Kimia Indonesia, Vol 3 (12). Gudaya University Denpasar. Bali.
- Firmansyah, Y., Efendi, R., and Rahmayuni. 2016. Utilization of chitosan to extend the shelf life of California papaya fruit varieties. SAGU, Vol. 15 (2): 11-20.
- Fitriana, S., Restuhadi, F., and Ibrahim, A. 2017. Potential of Bromelin Enzyme Coarse Extract in Pineapple (*Ananas comosus* L.) Hump as Natural Coagulant for Latex (*Hevea brasiliensis*). Faperta Journal, Vol. 4 (1).
- Funami, T. 2011. Next Target for Food Hydrocolloid Studies Texture Design of Foods Using Hydrocolloid Technology. Food Hydrocolloids, 25: 1904-1914.
- Glicksman. 1979. Food Hydrocolloids Vol. II. CRC Press. Florida.
- Gunawan, I. 2018. Comparison of pH and Spreadability of Pineapple Peel Extract Cream (*Ananas comosus* L.). Journal of Health Analyst, Vol. 7 (1).
- Hasanah, H. 2007. Imitation Nori from Agar Flour Extracted from Seaweed. Kanisius Publisher. Yogyakarta.
- Historiarsih, R. Z. 2010. Manufacture of Soursop-Rosella *Fruit Leather*. Faculty of Agriculture UPN Veteran Jatim. Surabaya.
- Hok, K. T., Setyo, W., Irawaty, W., Soetaredjo, F. E. 2007. Effect of Heating Temperature and Time on Vitamin A and C Content in Tomato Paste Making Process. Journal of Widya Teknik, Vol. 6 (2): 111-120.
- Imeson, A. 2010. Food Stabilizers, Thickeners and Gelling Agents. Blackwell Publishing. USA.

- Indriati, F. 2016. Effect of Pineapple Juice Addition on Hard Candy. Journal of Industrial Technology Research, Vol. 8 (2): 159-170.
- Irfandi. 2005. Morphological Characterization of Five Pineapple Populations (*Ananas comosus* L. Merr.). Thesis. Horticulture Study Program. Faculty of Agriculture. Bogor Institute of Agriculture. Bogor.
- Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia. 2017. *Indonesian Food Composition Table*. Directorate General of Public Health. Directorate of Community Nutrition. Jakarta.
- Kratchanova, M., Denev, P., Ciz, M., Lojek, A., and Mihailov, A. 2010. Evaluation of Antioxidant Activity of Medicinal Plants Containing Polyphenol Compounds Comparison of Two Extraction Systems. Journal ACTAABP Biochemistry Polonica, Vol. 57 (2): 229-234.
- Kusuma, A. P., Chuzaemi, S., and Mashudi. 2019. The Effect Length of Fermentation of Pinneaple Fruit Waste (Ananas comosus L. Merr) on the Physical Quality and Nutrient Content Using Aspergillus niger. Journal of Tropical Livestock Nutrition, Vol. 2 (1): 1-9.
- Kwartiningsih, E and Mulyati. 2005. Fermentation of Pineapple Fruit Juice into Vinegar. Equilibrium, Vol. 4 (1): 8-11.
- Lamban, L. S., Kandou. J., and Djarkasi, G. S. S. 2017. Effect of Proportion of Red Dragon Fruit (*Hylocereus polyrhisuz*) and Soursop Fruit (*Annona muricata* L) on the Level of Panelist Preference for *Fruit Leather*. Sam Ratulangi University. Manado.
- Lestari, K. M. 2019. Effect of Addition of *Marigold* Flower Extract (*Tagetes erecta* L.) on Characteristics and Acceptability of Ice Cream. Subang State Polytechnic. Subang.
- Lobo, M. G and Yahia, E. 2016. Biology and Postharvest Physiology of Pineapple. In Lobo, M. G and Paul, R. E. (Eds.). Handbook of Pineapple Technology: Postharvest Science, Processing and Nutrition, p: 39 - 61. John Wiley. United Kingdom.
- Mandei, H. J. 2014. Composition of Several Sugar Compounds in Making Hard Candy from Nutmeg Fruit. Journal of Industrial Technology Research, Vol. 6 (1): 1-10.
- Mardiana, L and Ratnasari, J. 2011. Soursop Herbs and Properties. Penebar Swadaya. Jakarta.
- Marlina, E. T., Harlia, E., and Hidayati, Y. A. 2018. Effectiveness of Pineapple Waste (Ananas comosus L.) as Natural Disinfectant in Milk Cans. Journal of Animal Science, Vol. 18 (1): 60-64.

- Marzelly, A.D., Yuwanti, S., Lindriati, T. 2017. Physical, Chemical, and Sensory Characteristics of Ambon Banana *(Musa paradisiaca S.)* Fruit Leather with Added Sugar and Carrageenan. Journal of Agrotechnology, Vol. 11 No. 02.
- Masuda, Y., Kikuzaki, H., Hisamoto, M., and Nakatani, N. 2004. Antioxidant Properties of Ginger Related Compounds from Ginger. Biofactors, Vol. 21: 1-4.
- Mawarni, S.A and Yuwono, S. S. 2018. Effect of Cooking Time and Carrageenan Concentration on Physical, Chemical and Organoleptic Properties of *Mix Fruit* (Starfruit and Apple) Sheet Jam. Journal of Food and Argoindustry, Vol. 6 (2).
- Mila, A. 2019. Preparation of *Fruit Leather* from Pineapple (*Ananas comosus L.*) and Red Dragon Fruit (*Hyclocereus polyrhizus*) (Study of Proportion of Pineapple: Red Dragon Fruit and Carrageenan Concentration). Thesis. Faculty of Agricultural Technology. Brawijaya University. Malang.
- Muchtadi, R. T. 1997. Food Processing Technology. PAU Food and Nutrition IPB. Bogor.
- Nopriantini. 2005. Chemical Quality and Acceptability Assessment of Low Calorie Aloe *Vera* Jam. Thesis. IPB. Bogor.
- Nuraini, D. 2001. *Role of Hydrocolloids in Food Industry*. Warta of Agricultural Products Industry, Vol. 18 (1-2): 37-47.
- Nuraini, D. 2014. Various Leaves with Medicinal Properties. Gava Media. Yogyakarta.
- Nurainy, F and Koesoemawardani. 2006. Effect of Seaweed Addition on the Characteristics of Soursop *Fruit Leather*. Research Report. Faculty of Agriculture. University of Lampung. Bandar Lampung.
- Nurhayati, N and Berliana. 2014. Changes in Protein and Crude Fiber Content of Pineapple Peel Fermented with *Plain Yoghurt*. Scientific Journal of Animal Sciences, Vol. 15 (1).
- Nurkaya, H., Amran, Marwati, Khotimah, K., and Nurmarini, E. 2020. Organoleptic Characteristics and Chemical Properties of Pineapple (*Ananas comosus* L. Merr) *Fruit Leather* with the Addition of Carrageenan and Gelatin as *Gelling Agent*. LOUPE Bulletin, Vol. 16 (02): 17-25.
- Nuswamahaerni, S., Prihatini, D., and Pohan, E. P. 1993. Getting to know Indonesian Superior Fruits. Penebar Swadaya. Jakarta.
- Praseptiangga, D., Aviany, T. P., and Parnanto, N. H. 2016. Effect of Gum Arabic Addition on Physicochemical and Sensory Characteristics of Jackfruit (*Artocarpus heterophyllus*) *Fruit Leather.* Journal of Agricultural Product Technology, Vol. 1 (9): 71-74.

- Pritanova, R. 2013. Development of Nori-like Product from Spinach (Amaranthus tricolor L.). Thesis. Swiss German University. Tangerang.
- Pulungan, M. Z., Luketsi, W. P., and Miftahul, D. U. 2020. Preparation of Subgrade Pineapple (Ananas comosus L.) Fruit Leather with the Addition of Red Dragon Fruit Peel (Hyclocereus costaricensis). Journal of Agroindustry Technology, Vol. 4 (2): 182-196.
- Puspasari, K., Rusli, F., and Mileiva, S. 2005. Formulation of Soursop Fruit Pulp Concentration with Ginger and Gum Arabic Concentration on *Fruit Leather* Quality. Journal of Food Engineering and Agriculture, Vol. 3 (2): 185-192.
- Putri, D. A., Ulfi, A., Purnomo, A. S., and Fatmawati, S. 2018. *Antioxidant and Antibacterial Activities of Ananas comosus L. Peel ExtractsI.* Sepuluh Nopember Institute of Technology. Surabaya.
- Putri, K. D., Yusarini, N. L., and Nocianitri, K. A. 2021. Effect of Processing Method on Antioxidant Activity and Characteristics of African Leaf Powder Herbal Tea (Vernonia amygdalina Delile). ITEPA Journal, Vol. 10 (1): 77-96.
- Raab, C., Oehler, N., 2000. *Making Dried Fruit leather. Extension Foods and Nutrition Specialist*, Origon State U.
- Ramadhani, D. A. 2016. Characterization of Mixed *Fruit Leather of* Soursop (*Annona muricata L.*) and Carrot (*Daucus corota L.*). Thesis. Faculty of Agricultural Technology. University of Jember. Jember.
- Rifansyah, A. 2016. Isolation and Characterization of Carrageenan from Red Algae *Eucheuma cottoni* by Alkaline Salt Precipitation Method. Thesis. Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences. University of Lampung. Lampung.
- Riski, A. P and Netti, H. 2017. Making *Fruit Leather* from a Mixture of Soursop Fruit (*Annona muricata, L.*) and Melon Fruit (*Cucumis melo, L.*). Journal of Agricultural Technology. UNRI. Riau.
- Roni, A. 2013. Effect of Liquid Addition of Pineapple Peel and Stump on Tempeh Making Process. Engineering Periodical, Vol. 3 (2).
- Sandra, A. D., Susanti, V., and Sabariman, M. 2002. Effect of Margarine on Pineapple Jam Sheets. Proceedings of PATPI National Seminar.
- Santoso, J. 2011. Food Fiber (*Dieatry Fiber*) and its Benefits for Health. Magistra No. 75 Th. XXIII March 2011. ISSN 0215-9511: 35-40.
- Sengar, A. S., Sunil, C. K., Rawson. A., and Venkatachalapathy, N. 2021. Identification of Volatile Compounds, Physicochemical and Techno-functional Properties of Pineapple Processing Waste. Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization, Vol. 16: 1146-1158.

- Sidi, C., Widowati, E., and Nuraiwi, A. 2014. Effect of Carrageenan Addition on Physicochemical and Sensory Characteristics of Pineapple (*Ananas comosus L. Merr.*) and Carrot (*Daucus corota*) *Fruit Leather.* Journal of Food Technology Applications, Vol. 4: 122-127.
- Sitorus, L., Pontoh, J., and Kamu, V. 2015. Analysis of Some Organic Acids by *High Performance Liquid Chromatography* (HPLC) Method *Grace Smart Rp* 18 5µ. Journal of Mipa Unsrat Online, Vol. 4 (2): 148-152.
- Sivel, M., Kracmar, S., Fisera, M., Klejdus, B., and Kuban, V. 2014. Lutein Content in Marigold Flower (T. erecta) Concentrates Used for Production of Food Supplements. Czech J Food Sci, Vol. 32 (6): 521-525.
- Sowbhagya, H. B., Sampathu, S. R., and Krishnamurthy. 2004. Natural Colorant from Marigold. Chemistry and Technology Food Reviews International, Vol. 20 (1): 33-50.
- Sudarmadji, S., Haryono, B., and Suhardi. 1997. Analytical Procedures for Food and Agricultural Materials. Liberty. Yogyakarta.
- Sulaiman, A., Anwar, F., Rimbawan, and Marliyati, S. A. 1994. Methods of Determination of Nutrients. Department of Community Nutrition. Faculty of Agriculture. IPB. Bogor.
- Susanto, B and Saneto. 1994. Agricultural Product Processing Technology. Bina Ilmu. Surabaya.
- Suseno, T. I. P., Fibria, N., and Kusumawati, N. 2008. Effect of Glucose Syrup Replacement with Sorbitol Syrup and Butter Replacement with Salatrim on Physicochemical and Organoleptic Properties of Caramelized Confectionery. Journal of Food Technology and Nutrition, Vol. 7 (1).
- Thomas, W. R. 1992. *Carrageenan*. Academic Press. New York.
- Tinoi, J., Nuansri, R., and Richard, L. D. 2005. Determination of Major Carotenoid Constituents in Petal Extracts of Eight Selected Flowering Plants in the North of Thailand. Department of Chemistry. Faculty of Science Chiang Mai University. Thailand.
- Titin, S. F. M., Kusrijadi, A., and Amelia, M. (2011). Utilization of Protease from Pineapple Extract (Ananas comusus L. Merry) as a Coagulant in the Production of Quality Cottage Cheese. National Seminar on Chemistry and Chemical Education III. May 7, 2011. Surakarta, Indonesia. 649-657.
- Tondang, H. M., Ekawati, I. G. A., and Wiadnyani, A. A. I. 2018. Effect of Carrageenan Addition on the Characteristics of Red Dragon *Fruit (Hylocereus polyrhizus) Fruit Leather*. Journal of Food Science and Technology, Vol: 7 (2). Udayana University. Bali.

- United States Department of Agriculture Nutrient Database. 2010. Food Composition. www.nal.usda.gov. Accessed November 2020.
- Vrianty, D., Rismawati, L. Q., Widowati, W., Putra, A., Fibriana, D., Fachrial, E., and Ehrich, I. N. 2019. Comparison of Antioxidant and Anti-Tyrosinase Activities of Pineapple (Ananas comosus) Core Extract and Luteolin Compound. Brawijaya Journal of Medicine, Vol. 30 (4): 240-246.
- Wicaksana, A. S. 2018. Utilization of *Marigold* Flower Hybrid Seed Production Waste (*Tagetes erecta* L.) into Dry Tea and Tea Drinks. Subang State Polytechnic. Subang.
- William, P. A and Phillips. 2005. *Handbook of Gum Arabic. The North East Wales Institute*. United Kingdom.
- Winarno, F. G. 2004. Food Chemistry and Nutrition. Gramedia Pustaka Utama. Jakarta.
- Winarsih. 2007. Natural Antioxidants and Free Radicals. First Printing. Kanisius. Yogyakarta.
- Vishnu, A and Rachmawati, D. 2011. Analysis of Nutritional Composition of Seaweed (*Euchema cotoni*) in Karimunjawa Island with Different Drying Process. Seaweed Article. Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science, Diponegoro University. Semarang.
- Yasita, D and Intan, D. R. 2009. Optimization of Extraction Process in the Manufacture of Carrageenan from *Eucheuma cottoni* Seaweed to Achieve *Foodgrade*. Final Project. Department of Chemical Engineering. Faculty of Engineering. Diponegoro University. Semarang.
- Yenrina, R., Yuliana and Dini, R. 2019. Food Ingredient Analysis Methods. Andalas University Press. Padang.
- Yuwono, S. S. 2016. Marigold Flower (*Tagetes erecta* L.). https://darsatop.lecture.ub.ac.id. Accessed December 2022.
- Zainuddin, M. F., Shamsudin, R., Mochtar, and Ismail, D. 2014. *Physicochemical Properties of Pineapple Plant Waste Fibers from the Leaves and Stem of Different Varieties. Journal Bio Resources*, Vol. 9 (3): 5311-5324.

APPENDIX

Appendix 1. Analysis Procedure

- a. Analysis of Reduced Sugar Content Luff-Schoorl method (Sulaiman, 1994)
 - 1. Take the sample and add distilled water to 100 ml into the measuring flask.
 - 2. Put 1 ml, 2 ml, 3 ml of each sample solution into Erlenmeyer using a pipette.
 - 3. Add 25 ml of Luff-Schoorl reagent and 24 ml, 23 ml, and 22 ml of distilled water respectively (up to 50 ml solution volume).
 - 4. Cover the erlenmeyer with a funnel lined with wet cotton as a countercooler.
 - 5. Heat to boiling before 2 minutes, then maintain for 10 minutes, If the volume decreases, then add distilled water through a spray bottle.
 - 6. Note which Erlenmeyer tube produces the best brick red precipitate and the blue solution is balanced. $CuSO_4$ solution is balanced.
 - Select the best Erlenmeyer for repetition 3 times, Cool the selected Erlenmeyer quickly (soak in cold water) to room temperature.
 - 8. Add 15 ml of 20% Kl and 25 ml of H_2SO_4 26.5% through the wall of the Erlenmeyer (immediately cover with aluminum foil).
 - 9. Titrate with $Na_2S_2O_3$ 0.1N solution to a raw (pale) yellow color.
 - 10. Add 2 ml of 1% amylum and homogenize.
 - 11. Titrate again with $Na_2S_2O_3$ 0.1N until the solution is exactly milk brown in color.
 - 12. Do the same for the blank treatment (25 ml of Luff-Schoorl solution added with distilled water).
 - 13. Determine the reducing sugar content, using the formula:

Reduced sugar content (%) = $\frac{mg \ gula \ reduksi}{mg \ sample} x \ FP \ x \ 100\%$

b. Analysis of Crude Fiber Content (Sudarmadji, 1997)

- 1. Put the sample as much as 1 g into a 300 ml Erlenmeyer flask then added with H_2SO_4 0,3 N.
- 2. Under counter-cooling then simmer for 30 minutes with occasional shaking, Filter the suspension with filter paper and wash the residue obtained with boiling water until it is not acidic.
- 3. Transfer the residue into an Erlenmeyer, wash the residue left on the filter paper using 200 ml boiling NaOH until all the residue enters the Erlenmeyer.
- 4. Boil the sample again for 30 minutes and filter while washing with 95% alcohol, then dry the filter paper at 110°C until constant weight.

c. Oven Method Moisture Content (AOAC, 2005)

- 1. Dry the washed petri dishes in an oven for 1 hour and cool in a desiccator for 15 minutes, then weigh them.
- 2. Weigh the sample material as much as 2 grams using a Petri dish container that has a known weight, then oven at 100-105 ° C for 5 hours.
- 3. Cool the material in a desiccator, then weigh it.
- 4. Reheat the material in the oven for 30 minutes, then cool it in a desiccator and weigh it.
- 5. Repeat the treatment until a constant weight is obtained (consecutive weighing difference of 0.2 mg), Moisture content (KA) is calculated using the formula:

Moisture content (%b) =
$$\frac{c - (a - b)}{c} x 100\%$$

)

Description:

a = weight of cup and final sample (gr)

b = weight of cup (gr)

- c = initial sample weight (gr
- d. Antioxidant Activity Test with DPPH Radical (1,1-diphenyl-2picrylhydrazyl) (Subagio, 2001)

Sample of 0.1 g was suspended with 20 ml ethanol in Erlenmeyer and stirred for \pm 10 minutes, then centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 5 minutes. Then take 1 ml of filtrate, add with 0.5 ml of DPPH reagent and let stand for 20 minutes after adding ethanol to a volume of 5 ml. The absorbance was immediately measured at λ =

517 nm. Blank was prepared in the same way but without sample. Antioxidant activity is expressed as the amount of DPPH radicals (mmol) reduced due to quenching by the sample (gram), and calculated based on the absorbance reduction caused by the sample.

Antioxidant activity (%) = $\frac{A, blanko - A, sample}{A, blanko} \times 100\%$

e. Tensile Strength Analysis with Tensile Strength (Lloyd Universal Testing Instrument 1000S)

- 1. Turn on the *tensile strength* machine and install tool accessories according to the sample that will be analyzed using pressure or pull.
- 2. Turn on the computer and enter the software program for the *tensile strength* machine.
- 3. The program appears on the screen after the *tensile strength* machine and computer are connected.
- 4. Place the cursor on ZERO and turn it ON so that the machine and computer monitor show 0.0 during the test.
- 5. Place the sample under the pressing accessories or clamp the sample with the pulling accessories.
- Place the cursor on the [] mark and turn it ON so that the computer will automatically record the FORCE (N) and the distance traveled by the pressure or pull on the sample.
- Tekan tombol [▼] untuk Penekanan (*Compression*) atau tombol [▲] untuk Tarikan (*Tension*) yang terdapat pada mesin *tensile strength*.
- 8. Once the test is complete press the [] button to stop and save the data.
- 9. Measurement results in the form of graphs can be recorded or printed directly.
- 10. When finished, turn off the computer and *tensile strength* machine.

f. Vitamin C Content Analysis, Iodine Titration Method (Sudarmadji, 1997)

1. Weighing 200-300 g of material crushed in a *warring blender* until a *slurry is* obtained, weighing 10-30 g of *slurry is* put into a 100 ml volumetric flask

and added with distilled water until the mark. Filter the filtrate with *whatman* 0.4 filter paper or by centrifuge to separate the filtrate.

- Take 5-25 ml of filtrate with a pipette and put it into a 125 ml Erlenmeyer plus 2 ml of 1% soluble starch amylum solution and add 20 ml of distilled water if necessary.
- 3. Then titrate with 0.01 N iodine standard.
- 4. Calculation = 1 ml of 0.01 N iodine is equivalent to 0.88 mg of vitamin c.

% Vitamin C = $\frac{ml \ iodium \ x \ 0.88 \ x \ fp}{mg \ sample} \ x \ 100\%$

- g. Organoleptic Test of *Fruit* Leather Characteristics, Hedonic Method (Wulandari *et al,* 2008)
 - 1. The panelists were determined to be 25 people.
 - 2. Panelists are required to provide an assessment in the form of a value (score) of the intensity of taste, color, aroma, and texture of each sample presented based on a numerical scale on a questionnaire sheet to indicate how far the level of preference.

Organoleptic Test with Friedman Method

$$x^{2}$$
 hitung = $\frac{12}{rp(p+1)} \sum_{i=1}^{p} \left(T1 \frac{r(p-1)}{2} \right)$

h. Analysis of Food Fiber Content Enzymatic Method (AOAC, 2005)

- 1. Fresh and boiled samples were oven dried at 60° for 21 hours.
- A dry sample of 2 g was extracted with petroleum ether solvent at room temperature for 15 minutes and then the sample was placed in an oven for 12 hours at 105° C.
- 3. Sample of 1 g (w) was put into a 500 ml Erlenmeyer.
- 4. Then 25 ml of 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer with pH 6 was added.
- 5. Add 0.1 ml of α -amylase enzyme (termamyl) and cover with aluminum foil.

- 6. Incubate at 100° C for 15 minutes.
- 20 ml of distilled water was added and the pH was adjusted to 1.5 by adding 4 M HCI.
- 100 mg pepsin was added, covered with aluminum foil and incubated at 40° C and agitated for 60 minutes.
- 20 ml of distilled water was added and the pH was adjusted to 6.8 then 100 mg of pancreatin was added, covered with aluminum foil and incubated at 40° C and agitated for 60 minutes.
- 10. The pH was adjusted with 4 M HCl to 4.5 M.
- 11. The solution was then filtered with a weighed G3 Egyptian glass cup and washed twice with distilled water.
- 12. The residue was washed with 2x10 ml of 78% ethanol and 2x10 ml of acetone, dried in an oven at 105° C for 12 hours, and put into a desiccator and weighed (D1).
- 13. Fumigated in a furnace at 500° C for 5 hours and put in a desiccator and weighed (I2).
- 14. The filtrate volume was adjusted by adding distilled water to 100 ml.
- 15. Added 400 ml of warm 78% ethanol (temperature 60° C), precipitated 1 hour.
- 16. The solution was filtered using a G3 glass meshed cup and washed with 2x10 ml of 78% ethanol, 2x10 ml of acetone, and dried in an oven for 12 hours at 105° C.
- 17. Put in a desiccator and weighed (D2).
- 18. The dried extract was then fumigated in a furnace at 500° C for 5 hours and put into a desiccator and weighed (I2).
- 19. Total dietary fiber was determined by summing the SDF and IDF values.
- 20. The blank values for IDF and SDF were obtained in the same way, but without using samples (B1 and B2).

%serat pangan tidak larut (IDF) = $\frac{D1 - I1 - B1}{W} \times 100\%$ %serat pangan yang larut (SDF) = $\frac{D2 - I2 - B2}{W} \times 100\%$ %total serat pangan (TDF) = Nilai IDF + Nilai SDF

i. Decision Analysis (De Garmo et al, 1984)

Each parameter is given a variable weight of 0-1. The variable weight depends on the importance of each parameter, which is obtained as a result of the treatment. The normal weight of each parameter is determined by the formula :

$$Berat Normal = \frac{Berat Variabel}{Berat Total}$$

After that, the effectiveness value is calculated using the formula :

 $Nilai Hasil = \frac{Nilai Perlakuan - Nilai terendah}{Nilai tertinggi - Nilai Terendah}$

The total value of all treatment combinations was calculated by summing up all the result values of each parameter. The largest total value indicates the best treatment result.

Organoleptic Testing Questionnaire (*Hedonic Scale Scoring*) Organoleptic Test Sheet

2.	Dislikes	5.	Very Favorable
1.	Strongly Dislike	4.	Like
	samples according	to the following crite	eria:
Instructions	: Rate the taste, co	lor, aroma, and te	xture of the following
Products tested	: Fruit Leather		
Day/Date	:		
Panelist Name	:		

3. Neutral

Sample	Parameters							
Code	Color	Taste	Aroma	Texture				
136								
159								
191								
207								
259								
292								
313								
356								
396								

Comments/Suggestions:

Raw Material Analysis Results

a. Water Content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
Bonggol	80,949	80,693	161,164	80,82	0,18
Skin	79,215	78,944	158,159	79,08	0,19
Total	160,164	159,637	319,801		
Average	80,082	79,819			

b. Reduced Sugar Content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
Bonggol	16,790	16,338	33,128	16,56	0,32
Skin	14,307	14,093	28,400	14,20	0,15
Total	31,097	30,431	61,528		

0

c. Vitamin C content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
Bonggol	73,090	71,794	144,884	72,44	0,92
Skin	29,307	30,093	59,400	29,70	0,56
Total	102,397	101,887	204,284		
Average	51,199	50,944			

d. Antioxidant Activity

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
Bonggol	68,907	67,284	136,191	68,10	1,15
Skin	58,879	57,246	116,125	58,06	1,15
Total	127,786	124,530	252,316		
Average	63,893	62,265			

e. Crude Fiber Content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
Bonggol	1,559	1,510	3,069	1,53	0,03
Skin	2,056	2,016	4,072	2,04	0,03
Total	3,615	3,526	7,141		
Average	1,808	1,763			

f. pH

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
Bonggol	4,180	4,130	8,130	4,16	0,04
Skin	5,870	5,790	11,660	5,83	0,06
Total	10,050	9,920	19,970		
Average	5,025	4,960			

Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Water Content

a. Moisture Content Analysis

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
A1B1	12,563	12,206	24,769	12,38	0,25
A1B2	12,990	12,708	25,698	12,85	0,20
A1B3	13,353	13,407	26,760	13,38	0,04
A2B1	14,099	14,027	28,126	14,06	0,05
A2B2	15,877	15,700	31,577	15,79	0,13
A2B3	16,330	15,197	32,527	16,26	0,09
A3B1	16,877	16,700	33,577	16,79	0,13
A3B2	17,333	17,082	34,415	17,21	0,18
A3B3	17,884	17,673	35,557	17,78	0,15
---------	---------	---------	---------	-------	------
Total	137,306	135,700	273,006		
Average	15,256	15,078			

b. Two-way Table

PROPORTION	C/	ARBAGE (%)	AMOUNT	AVERAGE
(b/b)	0,6%	0,8%	1,0%	AMOUNT	AVERAGE
60:40	24,77	25,70	26,76	77,23	25,74
50:50	28,13	31,58	32,53	92,23	30,72
40:60	33,58	34,42	35,56	103,55	34,52
AMOUNT	86,47	91,69	94,84	273,01	
AVERAGE	28,82	30,56	31,61		

c. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

	Type III Sum		Mean		
Source	of Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	65.458ª	8	8.182	365.513	.000
Intercept	4140.682	1	4140.682	184970.234	.000
Treatment	65.458	8	8.182	365.513	.000
Error	.201	9	.022		
Total	4206.342	18			
Corrected Total	65.660	17			

a. R Squared = ,997 (Adjusted R Squared = ,994)

d. DMRT Table of Water Content

						Subset				
Treatment	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
A1B1	2	12.3845								
A1B2	2		12.8490							
A1B3	2			13.3800						
A2B1	2				14.0630					
A2B2	2					15.7885				
A2B3	2						16.2635			
A3B1	2							16.7885		
A3B2	2								17.2075	
A3B3	2									17.7785
Sig.		1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

Based on observed means.

The error term is Mean Square(Error) = ,022.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 2,000.

Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Reduced Sugar Content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
A1B1	25,692	25,508	51,200	25,60	0,13
A1B2	25,759	25,640	51,399	25,70	0,08
A1B3	26,071	25,974	52,045	26,02	0,07
A2B1	24,199	24,107	48,306	24,15	0,07
A2B2	24,569	24,501	49,070	24,54	0,05
A2B3	24,866	24,803	49,669	24,83	0,04
A3B1	23,064	23,022	46,086	23,04	0,03
A3B2	23,577	23,509	47,086	23,54	0,05
A3B3	23,897	23,751	47,648	23,82	0,10
Total	221,694	220,815	442,509		
Average	24,633	24,535			

a. Reduced Sugar Content Analysis

b. Two-way Table

PROPORTION	CA	ARBAGE (%))		AVERAGE	
(b/b)	0,6%	0,8%	1,0%	AMOUNT		
60:40	51,20	51,40	52,05	154,64	51,55	
50:50	48,30	49,07	49,67	147,05	49,02	
40:60	46,09	47,09	47,65	140,82	46,94	
AMOUNT	145,59	147,56	149,36	442,51		
AVERAGE	48,53	49,19	49,79			

c. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

	Type III Sum of				
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	17.266 ^a	8	2.158	380.160	.000
Intercept	10878.568	1	10878.568	1916234.111	.000
Treatment	17.266	8	2.158	380.160	.000
Error	.051	9	.006		
Total	10895.884	18			
Corrected Total	17.317	17			

a. R Squared = ,997 (Adjusted R Squared = ,994)

d. DMRT Table of Reduced Sugar Content

			Subset						
Treatment	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
A3B1	2	23.0430							
A3B2	2		23.5430						
A3B3	2			23.8240					
A2B1	2				24.1530				
A2B2	2					24.5350			
A2B3	2						24.8345		
A1B1	2							25.6000	
A1B2	2							25.6995	
A1B3	2								26.0225
Sig.		1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	.219	1.000

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

Based on observed means.

The error term is Mean Square(Error) = ,006.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 2,000.

Appendix 6, Observation Data for Variety Analysis of Vitamin C Content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
A1B1	15,497	15,387	30,884	15,44	0,08
A1B2	15,583	15,692	31,275	15,64	0,08
A1B3	16,134	16,165	32,299	16,15	0,02
A2B1	14,897	14,788	29,685	14,84	0,08
A2B2	15,077	15,296	30,373	15,19	0,15
A2B3	15,308	15,437	30,745	15,37	0,09
A3B1	14,473	14,365	28,838	14,42	0,08
A3B2	14,593	14,503	29,096	14,55	0,06
A3B3	14,803	14,672	29,475	14,74	0,09
Total	136,365	136,305	272,670		
Average	15,152	15,145			

a. Vitamin C Content Analysis

b. Two-way Table

PROPORTION	CA	ARBAGE (%))			
(b/b)	0,6%	0,8%	1,0%	AMOUNT	AVERAGE	
60:40	30,88	31,28	32,30	94,46	31,49	
50:50	29,69	30,37	30,75	90,80	30,27	
40:60	28,84	29,10	29,48	87,41	29,14	
AMOUNT	89,41	90,74	92,52	272,67		
AVERAGE	29,80	30,25	30,84			

c. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

	Type III Sum of				
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	5.068 ^a	8	.634	82.428	.000
Intercept	4130.496	1	4130.496	537397.390	.000
Treatment	5.068	8	.634	82.428	.000
Error	.069	9	.008		
Total	4135.634	18			
Corrected Total	5.138	17			

a. R Squared = ,987 (Adjusted R Squared = ,975)

d. DMRT Table of Vitamin C Content

			Subset						
Treatment	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
A3B1	2	14.4190							
A3B2	2	14.5480	14.5480						
A3B3	2		14.7375	14.7375					
A2B1	2			14.8425					
A2B2	2				15.1865				
A2B3	2				15.3725	15.3725			
A1B1	2					15.4420	15.4420		
A1B2	2						15.6375		
A1B3	2							16.1495	
Sig.		.175	.059	.262	.063	.448	.053	1.000	

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

Based on observed means.

The error term is Mean Square(Error) = ,008.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 2,000.

Observation Data for Variance Analysis of Antioxidant Activity

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
A1B1	27,497	27,387	58,884	27,44	0,08
A1B2	27,583	27,692	55,275	27,64	0,08
A1B3	28,134	28,165	56,299	28,15	0,02
A2B1	26,897	27,788	53,685	26,84	0,08
A2B2	27,077	27,296	53,373	27,19	0,15
A2B3	27,308	27,437	54,745	27,37	0,09
A3B1	26,473	26,365	52,838	26,42	0,08
A3B2	26,593	26,503	53,096	26,55	0,06
A3B3	26,803	26,672	53,475	26,74	0,09
Total	244,365	244,305	488,670		
Average	27,152	27,145			

a. Antioxidant Activity Analysis

b. Two-way Table

PROPORTION	C/	ARBAGE (%)			
(b/b)	0,6%	0,8%	1,0%	AMOUNT	AVERAGE	
60:40	54,88	55,28	56,30	166,46	55,49	
50:50	53,69	54,37	54,75	162,80	54,27	
40:60	52,84	53,10	53,48	159,41	53,14	
AMOUNT	161,41	162,74	164,52	488,67		
AVERAGE	53,80	54,25	54,84			

c. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

	Type III Sum of				
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	5.068 ^a	8	.634	82.428	.000
Intercept	13266.576	1	13266.576	1726045.312	.000
Treatment	5.068	8	.634	82.428	.000
Error	.069	9	.008		
Total	13271.714	18			
Corrected Total	5.138	17			

a. R Squared = ,987 (Adjusted R Squared = ,975)

d. DMRT Table Antioxidant Activity

			Subset							
Treatment	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
A3B1	2	26.4190								
A3B2	2	26.5480	26.5480							
A3B3	2		26.7375	26.7375						
A2B1	2			26.8425						
A2B2	2				27.1865					
A2B3	2				27.3725	27.3725				
A1B1	2					27.4420	27.4420			
A1B2	2						27.6375			
A1B3	2							28.1495		
Sig.		.175	.059	.262	.063	.448	.053	1.000		

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

Based on observed means.

The error term is Mean Square(Error) = ,008.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 2,000.

Observation Data of Variety Analysis of Crude Fiber Content

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
A1B1	2,108	1,988	4,096	2,05	0,08
A1B2	2,295	2,368	4,663	2,33	0,05
A1B3	2,453	2,536	4,989	2,49	0,06
A2B1	2,586	2,652	5,238	2,62	0,05
A2B2	2,782	2,859	5,641	2,82	0,05
A2B3	3,027	3,138	6,165	3,08	0,08
A3B1	3,134	3,312	6,446	3,22	0,13
A3B2	3,687	3,767	7,454	3,73	0,06
A3B3	4,117	3,972	8,089	4,04	0,10
Total	26,189	26,592	52,781		
Average	2,910	2,955			

a. Crude Fiber Content Analysis

b. Two-way Table

PROPORTION	CA	ARBAGE (%)			
(b/b)	0,6%	0,8%	1,0%	AMOUNT	AVERAGE	
60:40	4,10	4,66	4,99	13,75	4,58	
50:50	5,24	5,64	6,17	17,04	5,68	
40:60	6,45	7,45	8,09	21,99	7,33	
AMOUNT	15,78	17,76	19,24	52,78		
AVERAGE	5,26	5,92	6,41			

c. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

	Type III Sum of				
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	6.767 ^a	8	.846	150.008	.000
Intercept	155.297	1	155.297	27542.221	.000
Treatment	6.767	8	.846	150.008	.000
Error	.051	9	.006		
Total	162.114	18			
Corrected Total	6.817	17			

a. R Squared = ,993 (Adjusted R Squared = ,986)

d. DMRT Table of Crude Fiber Content

		Subset								
Treatment	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
A1B1	2	2.0480								
A1B2	2		2.3315							
A1B3	2			2.5395						
A2B1	2			2.6190						
A2B2	2				2.8205					
A2B3	2					3.0825				
A3B1	2					3.2230				
A3B2	2						3.7270			
A3B3	2							4.0445		
Sig.		1.000	1.000	.317	1.000	.094	1.000	1.000		

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

Based on observed means.

The error term is Mean Square(Error) = ,006.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 2,000.

Observation Data for Variety Analysis of Tensile Strength

Treatment	Repeat 1	Repeat 2	Total	Average	STDEV
A1B1	1,395	1,525	2,920	1,46	0,09
A1B2	1,770	1,655	3,425	1,71	0,08
A1B3	1,988	1,915	3,903	1,95	0,05
A2B1	2,525	2,375	4,900	2,45	0,11
A2B2	2,825	2,765	5,590	2,80	0,04
A2B3	3,088	2,955	6,043	3,02	0,09
A3B1	3,365	3,310	6,675	3,34	0,04
A3B2	3,725	3,885	7,610	3,81	0,11
A3B3	4,225	4,465	8,690	4,35	0,17
Total	24,906	24,850	49,756		
Average	2,767	2,761			

a. Tensile Strength Analysis

b. Two-way Table

PROPORTION	C/	ARBAGE (%)		
(b/b)	0,6%	0,8%	1,0%	AMOUNT	AVERAGE
60:40	2,92	3,43	3,90	10,25	3,42
50:50	4,90	5,59	6,04	16,53	5,51
40:60	6,68	7,61	8,69	22,98	7,66
AMOUNT	14,50	16,63	18,64	49,76	
AVERAGE	4,83	5,54	6,21		

c. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

	Type III Sum of				
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Corrected Model	15.088 ^a	8	1.886	205.170	.000
Intercept	137.537	1	137.537	14961.561	.000
Treatment	15.088	8	1.886	205.170	.000
Error	.083	9	.009		
Total	152.708	18			
Corrected Total	15.171	17			

a. R Squared = ,995 (Adjusted R Squared = ,990)

d. DMRT Table of Tensile Strength

						Subset				
Treatment	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
A1B1	2	1.4600								
A1B2	2		1.7125							
A1B3	2			1.9515						
A2B1	2				2.4500					
A2B2	2					2.7950				
A2B3	2						3.0215			
A3B1	2							3.3375		
A3B2	2								3.8050	
A3B3	2									4.3450
Sig.		1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

Based on observed means.

The error term is Mean Square(Error) = ,009.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 2,000.

Organoleptic Test Data Color

Donaliata									Samp	le Code								
Panelisis	136	R	159	R	191	R	207	R	259	R	292	R	313	R	356	R	398	R
1	4	6,5	5	8,5	3	3,5	5	8,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	6,5	2	1	3	3,5
2	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6	3	2	5	9	3	2	4	6	3	2
3	4	8	4	8	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5
4	3	3	5	8,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	3	3	3	5	8,5	3	3	3	3
5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	2	3	2	4	6,5	3	2
6	3	2	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	2	4	6,5	3	2	4	6,5
7	2	3	2	3	3	6,5	2	3	2	3	4	8,5	3	6,5	2	3	4	8,5
8	2	2	3	5,5	3	5,5	2	2	2	2	4	8,5	3	5,5	4	8,5	3	5,5
9	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6	3	1,5	4	6	3	1,5
10	2	1	3	3	3	3	5	8,5	5	8,5	4	6	4	6	4	6	3	3
11	4	7,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	7,5	3	3,5	4	7,5	3	3,5	4	7,5	2	1
12	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	4	8,5	4	8,5	3	4
13	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	2	3	2	3	2	4	6,5
14	4	5,5	3	2	4	5,5	5	8,5	5	8,5	4	5,5	4	5,5	3	2	3	2
15	3	2,5	3	2,5	3	2,5	4	7	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	4	7	4	7
16	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	5	9	3	4	4	8	3	4	3	4
17	2	2	3	5,5	2	2	3	5,5	4	8,5	4	8,5	3	5,5	2	2	3	5,5
18	5	8,5	5	8,5	4	6,5	3	4	3	4	2	1,5	4	6,5	2	1,5	3	4
19	2	1,5	3	4	3	4	4	7,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	2	1,5	3	4
20	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	3	3	3	5	9	4	6,5	2	1	3	3
21	4	8,5	4	8,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	2	1	3	4,5
22	2	1,5	2	1,5	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5	4	8,5	4	8,5	3	5
23	5	7,5	5	7,5	5	7,5	3	3	3	3	3	3	5	7,5	3	3	3	3
24	3	2,5	4	7	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	3	2,5
25	84	3	91	8	87	5	90	7	86	4	88	6	92	9	79	2	78	1
Total	164	115,5	178	141	170	127,5	176	141	169	125,0	172	129,5	180	145,5	154	104	153	96,0
Average	6,56	4,62	7,12	5,64	6,8	5,1	7,04	5,64	6,76	5	6,88	5,18	7,2	5,82	6,16	4,16	6,12	3,84

Appendix 11. Calculation of Color Organoleptic Test with *Friedman Test* (Setyaningsih, 2010)

Formula $X^2 \operatorname{count} = \frac{12}{r p.(p+1)} \times [\sum T_i^2] - 3 r (p+1)$ Description : r= Number of panelists p= Number of treatments $\sum T_i^2$ = Sum of the powers of the i-th treatment Db x^2 = p-1 $X^2 = \frac{12}{25x9(9+1)} \times [(115.5^2) + (141^2) + (127.5^2) + (141^2) + (125^2) + (129.5^2) + (145.5^2) + (104^2) + (96^2)] - (3 \times 25 (9+1))$ = 12,432

<u>X² calculated (12.432 ≥ X² table at 5% level (15.507) → then there is no</u> significant difference between treatments on color at the 5% level.

Organoleptic Test Data for Taste

Donolisto									Sampl	e Code								
Fanelisis	136	R	159	R	191	R	207	R	259	R	292	R	313	R	356	R	398	R
1	4	5,5	4	5,5	4	5,5	4	5,5	4	5,5	3	1	4	5,5	4	5,5	4	5,5
2	3	4	4	8	3	4	3	4	2	1	3	4	4	8	4	8	3	4
3	2	1,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	4	8	4	8	4	8	2	1,5
4	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8
5	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	7	4	7	5	9	3	3	4	7	3	3
6	2	1	5	9	4	6	3	2,5	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6	3	2,5
7	4	7	3	2,5	4	7	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	3	2,5	3	2,5	4	7
8	2	1,5	3	3,5	4	6,5	5	9	4	6,5	2	1,5	3	3,5	4	6,5	4	6,5
9	3	4,5	3	4,5	2	1,5	3	4,5	4	8	2	1,5	4	8	4	8	3	4,5
10	3	5	3	5	2	1,5	3	5	4	8,5	2	1,5	3	5	4	8,5	3	5
11	3	4,5	3	4,5	2	1,5	3	4,5	4	8	2	1,5	4	8	4	8	3	4,5
12	3	5	3	5	2	1,5	3	5	4	8,5	2	1,5	3	5	4	8,5	3	5
13	4	4	4	4	3	1	5	8	4	4	5	8	5	8	4	4	4	4
14	4	8	2	1,5	3	4,5	4	8	2	1,5	3	4,5	4	8	3	4,5	3	4,5
15	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	5	8,5	4	4	5	8,5	4	4	4	4
16	4	6	2	1	4	6	5	9	4	6	3	2,5	4	6	4	6	3	2,5
17	4	3,5	5	7,5	3	1	4	3,5	4	3,5	5	7,5	5	7,5	4	3,5	5	7,5
18	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5
19	2	1,5	4	6	4	6	2	1,5	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6	4	6
20	3	2	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	2	3	2
21	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5	4	5
22	2	1,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	2	1,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	3	3	4	6,5	4	6,5
23	5	9	3	4,5	2	1	3	4,5	3	4,5	4	8	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5
24	5	8,5	4	6	2	1,5	5	8,5	4	6	3	3,5	4	6	3	3,5	2	1,5
25	3	4,5	4	8	2	1,5	3	4,5	4	8	3	4,5	4	8	2	1,5	3	4,5
Total	84	113,0	88	124	79	95,5	90	131,5	94	145,0	86	117,5	95	148	92	136	85	114,5
Average	3,36	4,52	3,52	4,96	3,16	3,82	3,6	5,26	3,76	5,8	3,44	4,7	3,8	5,92	3,68	5,44	3,4	4,58

Appendix 13. Calculation of Organoleptic Taste Test with *Friedman Test* (Setyaningsih, 2010)

Formula
X² count =
$$\frac{12}{r p.(p+1)}$$
 x [$\sum T_i^2$] - 3 r (p+1)
Description :
r= Number of panelists
p= Number of treatments
 $\sum T_i^2$ = Sum of the powers of the i-th treatment
Db x² = p-1
X = $2 \frac{12}{25x9(9+1)}$ x [(113²) + (124²) + (95.5²) + (131.5²) + (145²) + (117.5²²) +
(148²) + (136²) + (114.5²)] - (3 x 25 (9+1))
= 12,128

<u>X² calculated (12.128) \ge X² table at 5% level (15.507) \rightarrow then there is no significant difference between treatments on flavor at 5% level,</u>

Aroma Organoleptic Test Data

Donaliat									Samp	le Code								
Panelist							20											
5	136	R	159	R	191	R	7	R	259	R	292	R	313	R	356	R	398	R
1	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5	3	5
2	2	1,5	3	5,5	2	1,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	4	9	3	5,5	3	5,5
3	2	1,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	2	1,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	4	9	3	5,5	3	5,5
4	4	9	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5
5	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8	3	3,5	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5
6	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8	4	8	3	3,5
7	3	3	4	6,5	3	3	2	1	3	3	5	9	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5
8	3	4	2	1,5	4	7	4	7	5	9	3	4	4	7	3	4	2	1,5
9	2	1	3	4,5	3	4,5	4	8,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	4	8,5	3	4,5	3	4,5
10	2	1,5	3	5	3	5	4	8,5	3	5	3	5	4	8,5	2	1,5	3	5
11	2	1,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	4	9	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	2	1,5	3	5,5
12	2	1,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	4	9	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	2	1,5	3	5,5
13	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	4	7	3	2,5	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	3	2,5
14	4	9	3	6	3	6	3	6	2	2	2	2	3	6	2	2	3	6
15	3	4	3	4	4	8,5	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	4	8,5	3	4
16	2	2	2	2	3	6	3	6	2	2	3	6	3	6	3	6	4	9
17	4	8,5	4	8,5	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4
18	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	2	1	3	5,5
19	2	1	3	4	3	4	4	8	3	4	4	8	4	8	3	4	3	4
20	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8	4	8	3	3,5	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5
21	4	7,5	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	7,5	4	7,5	3	3	4	7,5	3	3
22	2	1	3	4	3	4	4	8	3	4	4	8	3	4	3	4	4	8
23	4	7,5	3	3	4	7,5	3	3	4	7,5	3	3	4	7,5	3	3	3	3
24	4	6	5	9	3	2	4	6	3	2	4	6	4	6	3	2	4	6
25	2	3	2	3	2	3	3	6,5	3	6,5	2	3	4	8,5	2	3	4	8,5

Total	72	102, 0	77	119	78	122, 5	85	150, 5	77	115, 0	81	133, 0	87	153, 5	74	107	79	123, 0
Average	2,8 8	4.08	3,0 8	4,7 4	3,1 2	4.9	3,4	6.02	3,0 8	4.6	3,2 4	5.32	3,4 8	6.14	2,9 6	4,2 8	3,1 6	4.92

Calculation of Aroma Organoleptic Test with *Friedman Test* (Setyaningsih, 2010)

Formula X² count = $\frac{12}{r p,(p+1)}$ x [\sum T_i²] - 3 r (p+1) Description : r = Number of panelists p = Number of treatments \sum T_i² = Sum of the powers of the i-th treatment Db x² = p-1 X = $2^{2} \frac{12}{25x9(9+1)}$ x [(102²) + (119²) + (122.5²) + (150.5²) + (115²) + (133²²) + (153.5²) + (107²) + (123²)] - (3 x 25 (9+1)) = 13,504

<u>X² calculated (13.504) \ge X² table at 5% level (15.507) \rightarrow then there is no significant difference between treatments on aroma at 5% level.</u>

Organoleptic Test Data for Texture

Papalieta									Samp	le Code								
Fallelists	136	R	159	R	191	R	207	R	259	R	292	R	313	R	356	R	398	R
1	3	4	2	1,5	3	4	3	4	4	7,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	2	1,5
2	3	5	2	2	2	2	3	5	3	5	4	7,5	5	9	4	7,5	2	2
3	3	4,5	2	2	2	2	3	4,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	4	7,5	2	2
4	3	4,5	2	1,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	4	8	4	8	3	4,5	4	8	2	1,5
5	3	3	4	7,5	3	3	3	3	4	7,5	3	3	4	7,5	3	3	4	7,5
6	3	2,5	3	2,5	2	1	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5	4	6,5
7	3	3,5	3	3,5	3	3,5	4	8	4	8	3	3,5	4	8	3	3,5	3	3,5
8	3	7	3	7	2	3	2	3	3	7	2	3	2	3	2	3	4	9
9	4	8	3	6	3	6	2	2,5	3	6	2	2,5	2	2,5	2	2,5	5	9
10	3	2,5	3	2,5	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	4	7	4	7	4	7	3	2,5
11	3	5,5	3	5,5	2	2	5	8,5	3	5,5	2	2	5	8,5	2	2	3	5,5
12	3	4,5	3	4,5	2	1,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	4	8	4	8	4	8	2	1,5
13	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	3	4,5	5	9
14	3	2,5	3	2,5	3	2,5	4	7	4	7	4	7	4	7	4	7	3	2,5
15	3	2,5	3	2,5	3	2,5	5	8,5	4	6	4	6	5	8,5	4	6	3	2,5
16	2	2	3	6,5	2	2	3	6,5	3	6,5	3	6,5	3	6,5	3	6,5	2	2
17	3	5	3	5	2	1,5	5	9	3	5	3	5	4	8	3	5	2	1,5
18	2	2,5	3	6	4	8,5	4	8,5	2	2,5	2	2,5	3	6	2	2,5	3	6
19	2	1,5	3	4	3	4	3	4	4	6,5	5	8,5	4	6,5	5	8,5	2	1,5
20	3	5,5	2	2,5	4	8	4	8	3	5,5	2	2,5	4	8	2	2,5	2	2,5
21	2	2	2	2	3	5	3	5	4	8	4	8	3	5	4	8	2	2
22	2	2	2	2	3	5,5	3	5,5	3	5,5	4	8,5	3	5,5	4	8,5	2	2
23	3	6	4	9	3	6	3	6	3	6	2	2	3	6	2	2	2	2
24	4	5	4	5	2	1	3	2,5	5	8	5	8	3	2,5	5	8	4	5
25	3	4	3	4	3	4	4	8,5	3	4	3	4	4	8,5	3	4	3	4
Total	72	99,5	71	102	68	90,0	86	144,5	87	155,0	84	139,0	91	162	84	139	71	94,5
Average	2,88	3,98	2,84	4,06	2,72	3,6	3,44	5,78	3,48	6,2	3,36	5,56	3,64	6,48	3,36	5,56	2,84	3,78

Appendix 17. Calculation of Organoleptic Texture Test with *Friedman Test* (Setyaningsih, 2010)

Formula $X^2 \operatorname{count} = \frac{12}{r p, (p+1)} \times [\sum T_i^2] - 3 r (p+1)$ Description : r= Number of panelists p= Number of treatments $\sum T_i^2$ = Sum of the powers of the i-th treatment Db x² = p-1 $X = {}^2 \frac{12}{25x9(9+1)} \times [(99.5^2) + (102^2) + (90^2) + (144.5^2) + (155^2) + (139^2) + (162^2)$ $) + (139^2) + (94.5^2)] - (3 \times 25 (9+1))$ = 34,128

<u>X² calculated (34.128) ≥ X² table at 5% level (15.507) → then there is a significant</u> difference between treatments on texture at 5% level,





